
(c) crown copyright

Catalogue Reference:CAB/181/2 Image Reference:0001



PRECEDENT BOCK. 

Par t I . 

THE CABINET. 



CONTENTS 
*M*aaenjamMneetot 

(Rttoenset are to paragraph Numbera) 

C (MSTXTUTIOHAX, POSITION 

The Cabinet and the Cabinet System ­ 1 

COMPOSITieW Gf THE O&SIMSf AND TEE POSITION OP MINISTERS OUTSIDE 
THE CABINET 

ATTENDANCE AT TEE CABINET 

CABINET FMlTHESB 

Colleetite Responsibility ­ 2 

Appointoent to toe Cabinet ­ 3-4 

CoBpesition of toe Cabinet * 5 

Ministers with Co-ordinating Functions ­ 6 

"rater Miniatera getotie toe Cabinet ­ 7 

Law Officer a ­ 8-11 

Junior Ministers ­ 12 

Preeedence of Members of tot Cabinet and other Miniatera ­ 13 

Members of the Cabinet and Mlniatora of Cabinet lank ­ 14 

Junior Ministers ­ 15 

Chiefs of staff ­ 16 

Officials and Others ­ 17 

Historical Notes ­ 18 

tor Cabinet, 1916-1919 

Cabinet, 1919-1939 

for Cabinet, 1939-1945 

Attendance at "Budget Cabinets' ­ 19 

Leawe of Absence ­ 20 

Mo w i l t s of Ministers ­ 21 

Foreign and Military Affairs ­ 23 

Parliamentary Business ­ 24 

Economic Affaire ­ 25 

The Budget ­ 26 

toite papera ­ 27 



ACTION PRIOR TO SUBMISSION OP M O  M * * 

SQQBMX3SICRflJP B03SOESS * 29 

JOTI0H ZH THE OOPfflf OfflCS * 30 

AGESDN * 32 

General Pi potion ­ 33-35 

fjwiilrt Mooilnp * 37 

Moot tow in ffltllArr Periode ­ 38-39 

AtiWoUtMM of Secretariat * 41 

CABINET GC1KJXJUS10MS 

Ploeonl fron Cenoluaicro * 43 

Xcfxlaiaantation of Oonclaaeioaa * 44 

Outatandlng Conolnsicna ­ 49 

MOKBBi OF gAWgff WtOKBBKB ­ 46 

mwmmtm or CASECT BECISIORS * 47 

iram fwwfiTriirTi emnrrr n*BTHUT 11111 limn * 48 

H  I CABTKTT REPORTS ­ 49 

Cabinet Phetogrcetai . 50 

(in eeparate f older) 

in the Cabdnet Office. 

ANNEX m - Stntiaticeof Meetinge e M Heanranda 

ANNEX XY - BOfcee on Queetione of Frooedure for Hinietere 

ANNEX f . Table of Miniaterial Anpointaente fron Sef*o*er, 193ft 

( i t ) 





The Cabinet I s an informal meeting of "each of Hie 
- ia jesty 's Conf identia l Servants as are of the Privy 
Counci l " (Johnson). U n t i l the ministers of the Crown 
Act , 1937 (which, among other th ings , makes prov is ion fo r 
the payment of addit iona l sa lary to c e r t a in Ministers when 
they are members of the Cabinet) the existence of the 
Cabinet had not been recognised in any s ta tu te : i t s 
existence depends on a convention of the const i tut ion . 
I t s o r i g in as an informal gathering 1B re f l ec ted i n i t s 
organisat ion and procedure; and, although i n the l a s t 
th i r ty or forty years a more formal system has 
developed, pract ice and procedure have var ied considerably 
to su i t pa r t i cu l a r circumstances and pa r t i cu l a r Prime 
Min i s te r s . 

The Cabinet has no statutory powers or functions, 
but consist ing of the l ead ing Members of the dominant 
Party in the House of Commons i t i s the d i rec t ing body 
of national po l i cy . In r e l a t i o n to Parliament 
i t provides a means of r econc i l ing the p r inc ip l e s of 
M in i s t e r i a l r e spons i b i l i t y and c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y , 
under which every Minister i n charge of a Department i s 
responsib le to Parliament for a pa r t i cu l a r sphere of ac t i v i t y 
and yet shares with his co l l eagues c o l l e c t i v e 
r e spons i b i l i t y f o r the Government's po l icy as a whole. 

On the development of Cabinet Government 
the const i tut iona l r e l a t i onsh ip between the 
King and the Cabinet and between the Cabinet 
and Parl iament, and the formation of 
Cabinets, reference should made to the standard 
au tho r i t i e s , e . g . Jennings; and Anson, 
Vo l . 11 (1 ) , pp. 108-148. 

For a short re ference l i e t of books, e t c 
about the Cabinet and the Cabinet system see 
Par t V I I ( 5 ) Annex I . 

For a b r i e f note on Cabinet Government 
i n the United Kingdom see Part V I I ( 5 ) Annex I I I . 



The gene ra l d o c t r i n e i s c o n v e n i e n t l y s t a t e d l a t h e 
words used by Lord Sa l i sbury i n 1878: 

"For a l  l tha t passes l a Cab ine t each member o f i  t who 
doee not r e s i g n I s a b s o l u t e l y and i r r e t r i e v a b l y r e s p o n s i b l e , 
and has no r i g h t a f t e rwards t o say tha t he agreed i n one 
ease t o compromise, w h i l e i n another he was persuaded by 
h i s c o l l e a g u e s I t i s on ly on the p r i n c i p l e that 
abso lu te r e s p o n s i b i l i t y i s undertaken by e v e r y member o f 
the Cabinet who, a f t e r a d e c i s i o n i s ar l i v e d a t , remains 
a member o f i t  , t ha t the j o i n t r e s p o n s i b i l i t y o f M i n i s t e r s 
t o Pa r l i ament can be uphe ld , and one o f the meet e s s e n t i a l 
p r i n c i p l e s o f par l iamentary r e s p o n s i b i l i t y e s t a b l i s h e d " . 

M i n i s t e r s o f Cab inet Rank who a r e no t members o f the 
Cabinet share i n the c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y f o r the 
Cab ine t * s d e c i s i o n s . C o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y i s 
p r e s e r v ed i n t h r e e w a y s : ­

( a ) The minutes and ( w i t h some e x c e p t i o n s ) the 
memoranda o f the Cabinet a r e c i r c u l a t e d t o a l l M i n i s t e r s 
o f Cabinet Rank; and any M i n i s t e r o f Cab ine t Rank has a 
r i g h t t o submit sugges t i ons t o the Cab ine t on any m a t t e r . 

( b ) A M i n i s t e r who i s no t a member o f the Cabinet i e 
i n v a r i a b l y summoned t o a t t end Cabinet when ques t i ons 
a f f e c t i n g h i s Departmental i n t e r e s t s a re t o be d i s cussed . 

( c ) M i n i s t e r s who are not members o f the Cabinet p lay 
an important p a r t i n the work o f Cabinet Comudttees, 
through which they make t h e i r c o n t r i b u t i o n towards the 
f o rmu la t i on o f Government p o l i c y . 

See Jenn ings , PP . 217-227; Anson, T o l H Q ) , 
pp . 117-119, 144. 

On the term " M i n i s t e r s o f Cabinet Rank" 
s e e para . 7 be low. 

For g e n e r a l d i s c u s s i o n o f the d o c t r i n e 
o f c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y and the a p p l i c a t i o n 
o f the d o c t r i n e dur ing the p e r i o d o f the 
War Cabinet i n the F i r s t and Second World Wars 
see M.G. (42 )5 and 7. For the v iew taken by 
S i r M. Bankey a s r e ga rds the War Cabinet o f 
1916-1919 see f i l  e OAE/A/32. 

On the "agreement t o d i f f e r " o f 1932 see 
Cab7(32) and Jenn ings , pp. 219-220. For the 
t e x t o f the o f f i c i a l co.uainique' see P a r t I I , 
pa ra . 44. See a l s o the deba tes on Cabinet 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y , Hansard,house o f Cemraons, 
8 th February , 1932. 

On v o t i n g by M i n i s t e r s I n Par l i ament on 
i s s u e s o f c onsc i enc e , e t c . s ee P a r t I I  , p a r a 44 . 

On v o t i n g i n Cabinet mee t ings see para . 35 . 

On d i s s e n t from Cabinet Conclus ions s e e 
para . 43* 



0 3 Membership of the Cabinet i s not i n i t s e l f an o f f i c e , 
but members are a l l Ministers of the Grown and P r i vy 
Counc i l l o r s . 

Sec Jennings, pp. 61-64 and Aaaon, 
Vo l . 11(1) pp. 111-2, 224. 

In the oecond ..orld .ur , Lo rd Ha l i f ax , 
( h i s Majesty 's Ambassador i n Washington) 
attended meetings of the .ar Cabinet , as a 
f u l l member, when i n London. He was o f course) 
a P r i v y Counci l lor . See minute o f 
28th November, 1941 on F i l e 48/4/1 Pa r t 1 ; 
Hansard, House of Cossaone, 27th November, 1941 
Cols . 890 -1 . 

if The Prime Minister makes Min is ters members o f the Cabinet 
bjr informal Inv i ta t ion and can equa l ly informally request 
them t o l eave the Cabinet. I n pract ice changes in the 
membership o f the Cabinet within the l i f e t ime o f a s ing le 
Government are frequently associated with changes i n o f f i ce 
to avoid a s i tua t ion where a Minister may leave the Cabinet 
whi le r e t a in ing his o f f i c e . 

I n November, 1942 , when S i r S ta f fo rd Cripps 
ceased to be Lord Pr ivy Seal and became Minis ter 
of A i r c r a f t Production, he l e f t the .ar Cabinet. 
I n May, 1940, Lord Simon, on re l inqu i sh ing 
o f f i ce ae Chancellor o f the Exchequer to become 
Lord Chancel lor, l e f t the (far Cabinet . In 
October, 1947, Mr. Sh inwe l l , on re l inqu ish ing 
o f f i ce as Minister of Fuel and Power to become 
secretary of State f o r War, l e f t the Cabinet. 
On the other hand i n February. 1942, S i r Kingeley 
Wood l e f t the War Cabinet although remaining 
Chancellor of the Sxehequer; and in 1946, on 
the appointment of a Min is ter of Defence, the 
Service Ministers l e f t the Cabinet. 



The composition of the Cabinet i s determined by the 
Prime Minister , who i s guided par t ly by t r ad i t i on and part ly 
by p o l i t i c a l considerations and the personal i ty of his 
co l l eagues . 

Por the composition of Cabinets since 1916 
see Annex 1* 

oee Jennings pp. 62-63; , neon, pp. 111 -2; 
22kjr and. f o r d e t a i l s of membership, e tc . 
P i l e 1+/1/3. 

Before 1916 the Cabinet usua l ly included 
a l l Ministers of the Crown. On 9 th December, 
1916, the Cabinet was replaced by a .ar Cabinet. 
This was composed of the members of the 
War Committee of the Cabinet which was set up * 
e a r l i e r i n the war and consisted of f i r e 
Min i s te rs , none of whom, except the Chancellor 
of the -Exchequer, was a Departmental Minister . 

I n 1919 the f u l l Cabinet was re - introduced. 
The number of Departmental Ministers had mean­
while increased, and Cabinets between 1919 and 
1939 contained usua l l y twenty members, the 
remaining Ministers sharing the c o l l e c t i v e 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y of the Cabinet but not s i t t i n g In 
Cabinet. 

I n the f i nanc i a l c r i s i s in 1931 a Rat ional 
Cabinet was set up of only nine Ministers 
besides the Prims Min i s te r . This Cabinet, 
which f i r s t met on 26th --ugust, 1931, held 2k 
meetings, and remained i n o f f i ce u n t i l the 
formation of the second National Cabinet on 
IGth November, 1931* 

At the outbreak of war i n September, 1939 
a .Var Cabinet of nine members was formed; i n 
May, 1940 when Mr. Churchi l l became Prime 
Minister of a Coa l i t i on Government, the War 
Cabinet was reformed with f i v e msmhwrs; but 
i t e composition was l a t e r modified from time 
to time. See Annex 1* 

On 25th May, 1945 when Labour a nd L i b e r a l 
srs l e f t Mr. C h u r c h i l l ' s Government, a 

Cabinet was formed of f i f t e e n members besides 
the Prime Minis ter . 

Mr. A t t l e e ' s Labour Cabinet when formed 
in ugust , 19U5 consisted of twenty Min i s te rs . 
I n 19h8 the number went down to 1 6 , u n t i l 
Mr. Dalton returned to of i ce as Chancellor of 
the Duchy of Lancaster. 

Por d iscuss ion of the general problem of & 
s i ze and composition of the Cabinet e ee Report 
of the Machinery of Government Committee (Cad 9230 
of 1918) pp. 4 - 6 ; notes by the Secretary of the 
Cabinet on an a r t i c l e by Lord Samuel i n 
P i l e 28/2/97; and G.Q.C. ( 49 )10 . 



tj. Xt has bean usual fo r Cabinets to include one o r more 
Min is ters without heavy Departmental dut ies , e . g . the Lord 
Pres ident of the Council and the Lord Pr ivy Sea l ; and from 
time to time Ministers without P o r t f o l i o have been appointed. 
These Ministers may be assigned spec i f i c tasks s s the need 
a r i s e s , or they may be g ives a genera l co -ordinat ing function 
over a p a r t i c u l a r f i e l d o f administrat ion; they a re 
f requently appointed Chairmen o f Cabinet Committees. Ministers 
charged with co-ordinat ing functions do not, however, f u l f i l 
any supervisory r o l e on the l i n e s advocated, f o r example, in 
the report of Machinery of Government Committee in 1918 
(Cmd. 9230 ) ; and the Departmental Ministers remain responsib le 
f o r the po l i cy and administration o f the i r Departments. Xa 
a note c i r cu l a ted in October, 1947 ( C P . ( 4 7 ) 2 8 8 ) the Prime 
Minister out l ined the dut ies of the Ministers with c o ­
ordinat ing functions then in o f f i c e , i . e . the Chancellor o f 
the Exchequer, the Minister fo r Keonoizde a f f a i r s , the Minister 
o f Defence aud the Lord Pr ivy uea l . In November, 1947 when 
S i r S ta f fo rd Grippe succeeded Mr. Dalton a s Chancel lor o f 
the Exchequer he reta ined the functions assigned to him while 
Minister f o r Economic A f f a i r s . 

r 



7. The growth in the number of Depertanmta in the loot thirty 
yeare or so BOB ando it iapoeaible to include all Miniatera in the Cabinet. 
Throughout the 'thirties a few Miniatera were "outaide" the Cabinet I end to 

the Adsdniatration (apart fron the Law Officers end junior Ministers^ 

oollectiwe reapcnolbility. They RECEIVE noat Cabinet isoii mils end al l 
Cabinet minuteaj they any aubadt to the Cabinet propoaala on any 
eubjeotj and thoee who ere in oharge of Dopartntnto attend Cabinet 
meetings for rHaonwalra of natters which affect their Departanntal 
interests. 

On attendance at Cabinet see paragraph 14, 

On too circulation of thimsssHu ess part IV, 

The tern "Minister of Cabinet rank", which was used before 
tht second world War to denote Ministers in toe Cabinet, ease to 
be used during too war to describe Ministers who were not aosfjers 
of^too Mirjtobtostto^sdg^ in n 

n n t  ̂ J o C t , ^ ^ ^ 

Ohould be diaoontisSrtip. (50) ̂  - ^ i l T W i L l ^ T ^ " " * 
Since 1945 it has beeone too practice to appoint "Minioters 

of State" ss aeaiatsnta to Minioters in oharge of sone of toe 
major Departoenta, e.g, too Treasury, too foreign office and too 
Colonial Office. Thooo Ministers have a higher otatos than junior 
Ministers, but it has not been dearly established whether they 
necessarily store folly in too collective responsibility of tot 
Government (see adnnto of 27.6,50 on file 4/1/11). 

for none tine sfter the fomation of too for Cabinet in 1939 
Ministoia not in too to Cabinet were in various lints divided by 
line drawn below the offices which hod toon included in the peace­
time Cabinet. Thus, Vaoher for October, 1939. showed eight 
Mtetotora^ "below tooJ^"j^wia^^ 

floottlsli Law Offioers were apparently emitted inad vovto i tly.) 
By 1942 too only Ministers "below the 1180" were the Minister of 
Pensions end the four Lev Officers, sad, on too Prims Minister^ 

CPUs 4/VH* note of 25th NovTmbeJ, 1942). The torn "beleafthe 
lino" is now vmeA only in relation to those who, in too record 
Of attendance at meetings of the Cabinet and Coandttees, sro 
Shown as "also present", i.e. at longing not aa nembsrs tot ss 
invitees. 



o f Pens ions and t h e f o u r Lav O f f i c e r s , a n d , 
on the r r i i a e i . ; i n i s t e r * e i n s t r u c t i o n s , the 
d i s t i n c t i o n was abandoned i n November, 19U2. 
( I l i e k/l/U, note o f 25th l o v a e A e r , 19U2) . 
The t e rm "be low the l i n e " i s now used only i n 
r e l a t i o n t o those who, i n the r e c o r d of a t t e n d ­
ance a t meet ings o f the Cabinet and Committees, 
a re shown as " a l s o p r e s e n t i . e , a t t end ing 
not as members but as i n v i t e e s . 



% g- While the Lord Chancel lor l a regarded as the p r inc ipa l 
adviser to the Cabinet on l e g a l matters, ons of the Lav 

 O f f i ce r s i s now normally asked to attend the Cabinet when 
\ l e g a l o r const i tut iona l i s sues a re under d iscuss ion. Usua l ly 

. jk ,r  " \ t h i s i s the Attornay-Goiieral o r in h i s abssnos the S o l i d t o r ­
,K ^^yj Oenera l^DuTlthe Lord Advocate isay^bo^fcha^aheeoeW be asksd 

to attend in h i s capacity o f one o f the four Lew O f f i c e r s 
of the Crown. The general r o l e o f the Law o r r i c e r a was 
restated by the Prime Minister i n C P . (48) 271, the substance 
of which i s embodied in paragraphs 6 and 28 of C P . (1+9)95* 

A

CP.(1*8)271 (16th Movember, 191*8) s t a t e d : ­

"It I s very des i r ab l e that we should make 
f u l l use o f ths experience o f the Law 
Of f i ce r s on the l e g a l aspects of po l i cy questions] 
I have not here l a mind the long -es tab l i shed 
and va luab l e p rac t i ce o f r e f e r r ing d i f f i c u l t 
l e g a l i s sues to the Law O f f i c e r s for a formal 
Opinion, but rather the general ass istance 
which they can g i ve to the i r M in i s t e r i a l 
col leagues on ths l e g a l questions which a r i s e 
in the formulation and administration of po l i cy . 

" I hope, there fore , that Min is ters in 
charge o f Departments w i l l s e t hes i ta te to consultj 
ths Law O f f i c e r s , as co l leagues in the 
Government, on questions where the i r advice i s 
l i k e l y to be o f va lue . 

"Chairmen o f Cabinet Committees should 
a l so bear in raind the va lue o f securing the 
attendance o f one o f the Law O f f i c e r s at any 
meeting a t which l e g a l iasues are l i k e l y to 
a r i s e . 1 " 

On ths pos i t ion o f the Scott i sh Law 
O f f i c e r s , who have sometimes i n the pas t been 
appointed on a non -po l i t i c a l b a s i s , see 
Mo. 10, Downing S t r ee t Handbook, p. 19. 

In A p r i l , 192k ths Attorney-General 
submitted a memorandum (CP.251(24) Annex I I I ) 
pointing out that " i n important matters i t 
genera l ly happens that the Law Of f i ce rs have 
no knowledge whatever o f the p o l i c y to be 
adopted by the Cabinet , end 5n consequence are 
quite unable to express an opinion as to whether 
that po l i cy can be l e g a l l y c a r r i ed into e f f e c t . " 
Ministers were asked (Cab.27(24)4) to ensure 
that the Law O f f i c e r s saw B i l l s as ear ly as 
pos s i b l e . The Law O f f i c e r s were a l s o , i f 
necessary, to be c a l l e d to the Cabinet. I t 
was pa r t l y as a r e s u l t o f th i s discussion that 
the Treasury Minute o f 28th A p r i l , 1921* on ths 
submission o f business to the Cabinet was 
issued ( s s s be low) . 



In 1944 the Treasury S o l i c i t o r , en 
being consulted by the Secretary o f the 
Cabinet, held that since the Lord Chancellor 
ems the p r inc ipa l adviser to the Cabinet on 
l e g a l matters, the Lav O f f i c e r s should attend 
only when he so required them, s*g* in a ease 
where i t sm% contemplated that an action might 
have to be takes and a decis ion defended in 
the courts . F i l e . A-/i/3i. 

q The Law O f f i c e r s rece ive copies o f Cabinet smmeranda which 
may be o f concern to them, together with appropr iate extracts 
from the Cabinet Conclusions. 

Formerly the Lord Chancel lor was respons ib le 
fo r informing the ttnglish Law Of f i ce r s o f 
Cabinet decis ions which a f fected then; and a 
statement to tills e f fect appeared l a successive 
Rotes on Procedure p r i o r to CP. (1*9)9% This 
ru l ing went beck to a decision o f the Second 
Lsbour Cabinet in 1929 (Cab. 23(29)3.) 

For the c i r cu l a t i on o f Memoranda to the 
Law O f f i c e r s see F i l e 4/3/56 Par t 2; o f 
Minutes, see Part IV. 

to. In add i t ion to the i r duties as ch ie f l e g a l advisers to 
the Government the Law O f f i c e r s discharge a l a r g e volume o f 
l e g a l and Parliamentary were. 

In reply to a Question on 28th February, 
194* on the attendance o f Law Of f i ce r s at 
Standing Committees o f the House o f Commons 
the Prime Minister (Mr. A t t l ee ) sa id i 

" I t has never been the p rac t i ce f o r a 
Law o f f i c e r to attend a l l meetings o f a l l 
Standing Committees. Although the burden o f 
work now Imposed upon the Lew O f f i c e r s i s 
subs tant ia l l y heavier than h i the r to , 1 under­
stand that a Law O f f i c e r has been present on a l l 
occasions where the Minister i n charge o f the 
B i l l concerned has indicated that the i r attendance 
in connection with p a r t i c u l a r clauses might be 
o f aas ls tance to the Committee. Law O f f i c e r s 
have other Important pub l i c dut ies in oonnee­
tlon with l i t i g a t i o n and ether matters bat they 
g ive precedence to Parliamentary work and 2 
hope that Committeee w i l l net f ind i t necessary 
to r equ i re the i r constant attendance, M 

(Hansard , Boose o f Commons, Col . 2106.) 
On the p r i o r i t y o f Parliamentary work and on 
the question of the appointment o f th i rd 
Engl ish Law O f f i c e r see CM.47(45)7* 



In 1944 the f reasury S o l i c i t o r , on 
being consulted by the secretary o f the 

At the Cabinet's aeeting on 6th Apr i l 
(CM.(50) 19th Conclusions, Minute 2 ) , the Lord 
Chancellor complained that he had not been consulted 
personally about the legal issues involved in a 
question then before the Cabinet, although the 
Attorney-General had been consulted and had indeed 
given a formal Opinion. Subsequently the prise 
Minister informed the Lord Chancellor that he did not 
think i t would be right to ask Departmental Ministers 
to decide when they should consult him and when they 
should consult the Law Off icers; end teat i t was the 
duty o f the Law Officers to bring the Lord Chancellor 
in en any matter an which they had given an Opinion 
i f i t seemed l i ke l y to oome before the Cabinet. 
The Attorney-General agreed on this occasion to give 
instructions that, when a written Opinion was given 
by a Law Officer on any matter of general interest 
or importance, a oopy should be sent to the Lord 
Chancellor, so as to enable him, if he wished, to 
discuss the matter with the Attorney before the 
question came before the Cabinet. P i l e 4/2/6/4. 

*mw u u i v u r u sew r u t tyX yo r a n * ; Of 
Minutes, see Part IV. 

In add i t ion to the i r dut ies as ch ie f l e g a l adv isers to 
toe Government the Law O f f i c e r s discharge a l a r g e volume o f 
l e g a l and Parliamentary work, 

l a reply to a Question on 26th February, 
1946 on the attendance o f Law O f f i ce r s s t 
Standing Committees o f the houso o f Casaona 
the Prims Minister (Mr. A t t l ee ) salds 

" I t has never bees the p rac t i s e f o r a 
Law O f f i ce r to attend a l l meetings o f a l l 
Standing Coraralttees. Although the burden o f 
work now imposed upon the Law O f f i ce r s i s 
subs tant ia l l y heavier than h i ther to , I under­
stand that a Law o f f i c e r has been present en a l l 
occasions where the Minister in charge o f the 
B i l l concerned has ind icated tost the i r attendasei 
i n connection with p a r t i c u l a r clauses might be 
o f ass istance to the Committee. Law O f f i c e r s 
haws other Important pub l i c duties in connee­
t lon with l i t i g a t i o n and other matters but they 
g i ve precedence to Parliamentary work and X 
hope that Committees w i l l not f ind i t necessary 
to require the i r constant attendance." 

( Hansard, House o f Commons, Col. 2106.) 
On toe p r i o r i t y o f Parliamentary work and en 
the question o f the appointment o f th i rd 
English Law O f f i c e r see C M . 47(45)7. 



The D i r e c t o r o f P u b l i c P r o s e c u t i o n s i n England and 
x a l e s d i s charges h i s d u t i e s under the super intendence o f 
the A t t o r n e y - G e n e r a l , and i n g i v i n g h i s d i r e c t i o n s the 
A t t o rney -Genera l i s not subse r v i en t t o the Execu t i v e . 
Government. I  t 1B the duty o f the A t t o r n e y - G e n e r a l , 
when a p r o s e cu t i on proposed i s o f such a c h a r a c t e r as t o 
i n v o l v e mat t e r s o f pub l i c p o l i c y , t o in fo rm h imse l f o f the 
v i ews of the app rop r i a t e M i n i s t e r ( u s u a l l y the Home 
S e c r e t a r y ) b e f o r e coming t o a d e c i s i o n , but the r e s p o n s i b i l i t y 
f o r the e ven tua l d e c i s i o n remains e x c l u s i v e l y t h a t o f the 
A t t o r n e y - G e n e r a l . The ques t i on o f p r o s e cu t i on would 
not normal ly come be f o r e the C a b i n e t , which has no r i g h t 
t o i n f l u e n c e the A t t o rney -Gene ra l i n h i s d e c i s i o n . 

See C P . 544 (24) ( F i l e L.Q./3/2) and 
Jenn ings , p . 181 . For i n s t ances where t h e 
q u e s t i o n o f p r o s e c u t i o n has come b e f o r e the 
Cabinet see F i l e E .0 ./S/1. The c l a s s i c 
i ns tance was the Campbell c a s e i n 1924 when, 
a f t e r d i s cuss i on i n Cabinet (Cab .48 (24 )5 ) , 
a p rosecu t i on of the a c t i n g e d i t o r o f the 
Da i l y ba rke r under the Inc i t emen t t o 
Mutiny Ac t was wi thdrawn. Th i s l e d t o a 
v o t e or censure i n the House o f Commons 
on which the F i r s t l a b o u r Government wae 
d e f e a t e d on Sth Oc t obe r , 1924. Apar t f rom 
the susp i c i on t h a t t h e p r o s e c u t i o n had been 
withdrawn on pure l y p o l i t i c a l grounds the 
Cabinet was open t o c r i t i c i s m i n d e c i d i n g t h a t 
i n fu ture "no p u b l i c p roeeou t i on o f a p o l i t i c a l 
cha rac t e r should be undertaken w i thout the 
p r i o r s anc t i on o f the Cabinet be ing o b t a i n e d . " 
Th is d e c i s i o n wae revoked by Mr. Baldwin*s 
Cabinet ( C a b . 6 5 ( 2 4 ) 8 ) . Gee F i l e s noted above 
and Home O f f i c e F i l e 477 , 583/1. 

I t has sometimes been argued that because 
o f h i s q u a s i - J u d i c i a l f u nc t i ons the A t t o r n e y -
General jugfct never t o be a swaber o f the 
Cab ine t , £here have , h o v e r e r , been s e v e r a l 
Cab ine ts i n which he has been inc luded . 
See Jenn ings , p . 6 3 ; Anson, V o l . I I ( 1 )  , p . 221 . 



junior malaVrri 
Jun i o r M i n i s t e r s ( i . e . P a r l i a u e n t a r i U n d e r - S e c r e t a r i e s 

o f S t a t e and Par l i amentary s e c r e t a r i e s ) have DJ s tand ing i n 
r e l a t i o n t o toe Oab iae t , oat they may bo asked t o a t t end 
i n c e r t a i n c i r cumstances , -he Par l i amentary s e c r e t a r y 
t o the T r e a s u r y , as Ch i e f Whip, normal ly a t t ends f o r 
d i s c u s s i o n of Par l i amentary bus iness . 

On the a t tendance of Jun io r M i n i s t o r e 
a t Cabinet see para . 15. 

On the gene ra l p o s i t i o n o f Junior 
M i n i s t e r s see P a r t XX, para . 28. 

The F i n a n c i a l o e c r e t a r y t o the Treasury 
van a member o f Mr. B a l d w i n ' s Cabinet i n 
1923-1921*. 

i 3 The Pr ime M i n i s t e r determines the precedence of members 
of the Cabinet and o t h e r s e n i o r m i n i s t e r s ; he i s gu ided 
p a r t l y by t r a d i t i o n and p a r t l y by p o l i t i c a l and pe r sona l 
c o n s i d e r a t i o n s . Cabinet precedence d i f f e r s f rom precedence 
I n the P r i v y Counci l and i n pub l i c ce remon ia l g e n e r a l l y , where 
e . g . the Lo rd Chance l l o r t akes precedence ove r the Prime 
M i n i s t e r . 

On the appointment o f a new member of the Cabinet or a 
new M i n i s t e r the s e c r e t a r y o f the Cabinet t akes the Pr ime 
M i n i s t e r * s i n s t r u c t i o n s on the precedence t o be g i v e n t o him. 
Th i s i s u s u a l l y done through the Pr ime M i n i s t e r * s P r i v a t e 
S e c r e t a r y . T h e r e a f t e r the Cabinet o f f i c e l i s t of M i n i s t e r s 
i s r e v i s e d as necessa ry , e . g . f o r guidance i n the p r e p a r a t i o n 
o f f r o n t pages o f minutes . Copies o f the l i s t a r e r e g u l a r l y 
sent by t h e Ch ie f C l e r k t o the E d i t o r s of the S t a t i o n e r y 
o f f i c e l i s t , Hansard and Vaooe r ' e Pa r l i amenta ry Companion. 

See g e n e r a l l y F i l e V l / 1 1 . 

C e r t a i n o f f i c e s , i n c l u d i n g those of L o rd 
Chance l l o r and i*ord P r i v y s e a l , normal ly c a r r y 
h igh precedence . I n 19h7, however , when 
Lord Iranan was made a member o f the Cabinet 
on appointment as L o r d P r i v y S e a l the Prime 
M i n i s t e r r u l e d that he should rank below a l l 
o the r Members o f the Cab ine t . (*Vhen 
Mr. Tost tjohneton was Lo rd P r i v y d ea l i n the 
second Labour Cabinet he ranked a f t e r a l l o t h e r 
members; and i n the second R a t i o n a l Cab inet 
( formed 10th November, 1931) Mr. d now dan 
( Lo rd P r i v y s e a l ) d i d not rank h i ghe r than f i f ­
t e e n t h ) . P i l e U/l/lU 

On the precedence o f the Lo rd Chance l l o r 
f o r Cabinet purposes see minutes and 
correspondence o f i i a r e h - ^ p r i l , 1942 i n F i l e 
V l / 1 1 . 

( Fo r notes on the q u e s t i o n of the g ene ra l 
precedence o f the L e a d e r o f the Oppos i t i on 
e e e F i l e / l 11 . ) 



Cabloot meet ings take precedeace ove r o th e r meet ings 
and Departmental bus iness . Members o f the Cabinet a lways 
a t tend u n l e s s they a re ind i sposed o r out o f London. The 
Cabinet has no 'quorm&*; a t c e r t a i n s p e c i a l o r emergency 
mee t i ng s , particularly meet ings dur ing * ho l i day * p e r i o d s , 
a t tendance has been q u i t e e m a i l . ( S e e , e . g * , C M . 72(47); 
73(47); 52(49)). 

M i n i s t e r s not i n the Cabinet a t t end on i n v i t a t i o n ; they 
are normal ly I n v i t e d f o r i tems o f bus ines a f f e c t i n g t h e i r 
Departments , but the Pr ime M i n i s t e r * s I n s t r u c t i o n s a re t aken 
when t h e Agenda f o r a p a r t i c u l a r mee t ing i s submitted t o him. 

Tfa9 9\UPireat no t e s  g  procedure e tate : -B

I t i s o f a s s i s t a n c e t o t h e S e c r e t a r y i f P r i v a t e 
S e c r e t a r i e s i n d i c a t e , when ask ing f o r a sub j e c t t o be 
p laced on the Agenda, which M i n i s t e r s , o the r than members 
o f the C a b i n e t , a r e l i k e l y t o be a f f e c t e d , so t h a t 
arrangements may, i  f necessary , be made f o r t h e i r a t t endance . 

M i n i s t e r s summoned t o mee t ings o f the Cab ine t f o r 
p a r t i c u l a r i tems w i l l r e c e i v e an Agenda Paper on which an 
approximate t ime w i l l be s e t aga ins t each i t e m . Every 
endeavour I s made not t o keep M i n i s t e r s w a i t i n g , but the t ime 
a t which each i t em w i l l be reached cannot be f o r e c a s t e x a c t l y . 
Cabinet meet ings t a k e precedence o v e r o the r bus iness . The 
utmost endeavours should be made by M i n i s t e r s t o be punctual 
and thus a vo i d was t ing the t ime o f t h e i r c o l l e a g u e s . 

I f a member o f the Cab ine t , o r a M i n i s t e r summoned f o r a 
p a r t i c u l a r i t em , i s unab l e , f o r any r e a s o n , t o be present 
a t a mee t ing o f the Cab ine t , he should n o t i f y the S e c r e t a r y , 
who w i l l in form the Pr ime M i n i s t e r and w i l l a l s o cons ide r 
whether any rearrangement of bus iness i s r e q u i r e d . 

( C P . ( h i ) 95, paragraphs 14, 15 and 17) 

Prom October , 1946 u n t i l Oc tober , 1947 
(when the Government was r e c o n s t i t u t e d ) 
Mr. John S t rachey , M i n i s t e r o f Pood , was , 
a t the Prims M i n i s t e r * s r e q u e s t , r egarded as 
a " cons tan t a t t e n d e r " on the analogy o f War 
Cab ine t p r a c t i c e , and a l though not a member 
o f the Cabinet a t t ended r e g u l a r l y 
i r r e s p e c t i v e o f the bus iness t o be taken 
i n c l u d i n g , e . g . the Budget d i s c u s s i o n . 
He was l i s t e d on the Agenda as an " i n v i t e e " . 
P i l e 4/1/31. 

On the at tendance o f t h e Law O f f i c e r s 
e e e para . 8 . 

The S e r v i c e M i n i s t e r s a r e normal ly 
i n v i t e d t o a t t end when mat t e r s a f f e c t i n g 
the admin i s t r a t i on o f the t h r e e s e r v i c e s a r e 
d i s cussed . They do not o r d i n a r i l y a t t end 
when s t r a t e g i c ques t i ons a r e d i scussed . 



Ho one can r e p r e s e n t a M i n i s t e r i n h i s c a p a c i t y o f a 
member o f the Cab ine t . A r e p r e s e n t a t i v e i s t h e r e f o r e on ly 
r e q u i r e d i f a M i n i s t e r s Department i s concerned w i t h a 
p a r t i c u l a r i t e m . I n such eases the M i n i s t e r i s normal ly 
r ep r e s en t ed by b i s Par l i amentary S e c r e t a r y . I n September 
1945, however, the Pr ims M i n i s t e r r u l e d t h a t Par l i amentary 
o e c r e t a r i e s should not r ep r e s en t t h e i r M i n i s t e r s a t 
Cabinet when broad i s s u e s o f p o l i c y a re be ing d i s cussed , 
even though the i n t e r e s t s o f t h e i r Departments may be 
i n v o l v e d : they should only a t tend where t h e r e l e a pure ly 
Departmental v iew t o be put . (He a l s o r u l e d tha t o f f i c i a l s 
should not a t t end I n the absence o f t h e i r M i n i s t e r s e x c e p t i n 
v e r y s p e c i a l c i r cumstances . ) (see P i l e 4/1/31) * 

On the p o s i t i o n o f Jun io r M i n i s t e r s 
g e n e r a l l y , see P a r t I I  . 

I n 1947, when the pa r l i amenta ry Sec r e ta r y , 
ee the i n l s t r y o f Fue l and Power (Mr. Gal t ake 11) 
was chairman o f the M a t e r i a l s Committee, t h e 
S e c r e t a r y o f the Cabinet had d i s c r e t i o n f rom 
the Pr ime M i n i s t e r t o a r range f o r him t o be 
i n v i t e d t o Meet ings o f the Cab ine t when 
ma t t e r s o f concern t o him i n t h a t c apac i t y 
were d i s cussed . F i l e 4/1/31* 



The Chiefs o f S ta f f nay he Inv i ted to attend f a r 
discussion o f m i l i t a ry matters or s t r a teg i c i s sues . The 
Prime M in i s t e r ' a inst ruct ions a re taken; normally, except 
in c l e a r cases , i t i s found expedient to consult informally 
the Minister o f Defence and, on occasion the Foreign 
Secretary , before a submission i s mads. Ind iv idua l Chiefs 
o f S t a f f may. i  f necessary, be represented by deputies. 
On occasion the Chiefs o f S ta f f , although asked to be present 
mar not be required to remain throughout the Cab inet ' s 
d iscuss ion; on a few occasions they have been asked to 
attend at 10, Downing s t r e e t , i s ease the i r presence in the 
Cabinet Room should b s required. 



% The g e n e r a l r o l e I s t h a t , apar t from members o f t h e 
s e c r e t a r i a t , o f f i c i a l s do not a t t end Cab ine t . There a r e 
however, two accepted depar tures f rom t h i s r u l e : the 

* ^ Permanent S e c r e t a r y t o the Treasury and the Permanent Under-
S e c r e t a r y o f S t a t e f o r F o r e i g n A f f a i r s may, w i th the 
Pr ims M i n i s t e r * e consent , a t t end . T h e i r names a re not 
shown on the Ajsada ss " i n v i t e e s " . 

See g e n e r a l l y P i l e Vl/Jl. 
Notw i ths tand ing t h e g ene ra l r u l e o the r 

o f f i c i a l s have , on o c c a s i o n , i n v e r y e x c e p t i o n a l 
c i rcumstances been p r e s e n t . Thus i n 1946 
F o r e i g n o f f i c e o f f i c i a l s o t h e r than the 
Permanent Unde r - s e c r e t a r y o f S t a t e a t t ended on 
t h r e e o c cas i ons , and i n 1948 on 6 o ccas i ons . 
Treasury o f f i c i a l s o t h e r than the Permanent 
Sec r e t a r y a t t ended on 4 occas i ons and a 
M i n i s t r y o f Defence o f f i c i a l once , i n 1946. 
A r e p r e s e n t a t i v e o f Pa r l i amenta ry Counsel 
a t t ended once i n 1948. 

Others who a t t e n d e d , s i n c e the present 
Government was formed a r e : -

Ch i e f Sec r e t a r y f o r P a l e s t i n e 
( S i r John Shaw) C M . 7 5 ( 4 6 ) 

High Commissioner f o r P a l e s t i n e 
( S i r A l an Cunningham) C M . 33 (47 ) 

Genera l O f f i c e r Commending P a l e s t i n e 
( L t . - G e n . M a o m i l l a n ) : C,M.33 (47) 

B r i t i s h M i l i t a r y Gove rnor , Germany 
(Gen. S i r Br ian R o b e r t s o n ) : C M . 30 (48 ) 

B r i t i s h Deputy M i l i t a r y Governor , Germany 
(Gen. Brownjohn) : C.M.43 (48) 

Commissioner-General f o r South East A s i a : 
C M . 38 (49) 3 

Uni ted Kingdom High Commissioner i n I n d i a 
C M . 38 (49) 3 

(ksnmender- in-Chief , Par Saet Land Forces 
CM.38 ( 49 )3 

Hie Ma j e s t y 1 u ^mbaseador i n Washington: 
C M . 50 (49 ) 5, 

51(49 ) 

Un i t ed Kingdom High Gam J-a s i oner i n Canada 
C M . 5 2 ( 4 9 ) 2 



IS, BlgtrpricaJl

-fir,nafcelMrt
1916-1919

Cabinet
1919-1959

War Cab ine t
1,939-1945

 fi0**g 

On a t tendance o f persons o the r than Privy 
C o u n c i l l o r s see Jenn ings , p . 214-5* 

 La r g e numbers o f M i n i s t e r s not i n the War 
 Cab ine t , o f f i c i a l s and o t h e r s a t t ended . See 

Repor t s o f the War Cab ine t f o r 1917 and 1918 
(Cod. 9005 and 325 ) ; House o f Lords Debate on 
19th June, 1916. 

 Between 1919 and 1939 Cab inet mee t ings were 
 seldom a t t ended by M i n i s t e r s o the r than those 

i n the Cabinet o r by o f f i c i a l s . (The Cabinet 
minutes r e c o r d s e v e r a l comp la in ts a t the absence 
o f M i n i s t e r s . e . g . Cab 3 (19 )1 ; 62(30)1). 
I n 1937 t h e r e were on ly a s co r e o f o ccas i ons on 
which M i n i s t e r s not I n the Cabinet a t t e n d e d ; and 
the only o f f i c i a l s t o a t t e n d were the Chairman 
and Deputy Chairman o f the Unemployment 
A s s i s t a n c e Board and t h e L e g a l A d v i s e r t o the 
F o r e i g n O f f i c e . I n 1936 t h e r e wear e l e v e n 
Ins tances o f a t tendance o f j o i n e r than Cabinet 
M i n i s t e r s . I n 1939 mee t ings were o c c a s i o n a l l y 
a t t ended by the Permanent S e c r e t a r i e s and the 
Par l i amentary S e c r e t a r i e s o f the Fo r e i gn O f f i c e 
and the Treasury . 

 On the es tab l i shment o f the War Cabinet 
 more l a t i t u d e was a l l o w e d . M i n i s t e r s not in 

the War Cabinet a t t ended when a sub j e c t with 
which they were Department a l l y concerned was 
under d i s c u s s i o n ; the C h i e f s o f S t a f f a t t ended 
r e g u l a r l y a t f i r s t and, from 1940 onwards, a t 
the weekly meet ings a t which the war s i t u a t i o n 
was r e v i ewed . ( Fo r d e t a i l s o f arrangements 
s e e F i l e s ftf*^f///i/.) 

Lo rd H a l i f a x , when H i s Majesty *s Ambassador 
i n Washington, a t t ended t h e War Cabinet a s a 
f u l l member dur ing h i s v i s i t s to the Un i t ed 
Kingdom (w,£1.309(40)5 and minute o f 21st January, 
1941 on F i l e 4/1/11) 

The V i c e r oy o f I n d i a ( L o rd V a v e l l ) 
a t t ended "above the l i n e " dur ing h i s v i s i t t o 
the Un i t ed Kingdom i n A p r i l , 1945 (he had 
a t t ended as " a l s o p r e s e n t " when V i c e r o y -
Des i gna t e ) (W.M.39, 43 and 45(45) ) . 

M i n i s t e r s Resident, ^ v i s i t i n g the U n i t e d 
Kingdom,attended the War Cabinet when mat t e r s 
concern ing them were r a i s e d : Mr. Casey 
a t t ended as a f u l l member when he was M i n i s t e r 
o f S t a t e R e s i d e n t , Midd le S a e t , and the o the r s 
as Cabinet M i n i s t e r s " a l s o p r e s e n t " , i i / ^ ^ / ^ ? 

Fran 27th October , 1943 t o 22nd November, 
1943 General Saruts a t t ended the War Cabinet 
"above the l i n e " . See F i l e lO/ f/zV ­



For att6Boan.ee o f Dominion and Ind ian 
M i n i s t e r s and R e p r e s e n t a t i v e s a t the war 
Cabinet s ee P e r t V I , 

On t h r e e o c cas i ons Mr. Marry Hopkins . 
P r e s i d e n t R o o s e v e l t ' s p e r sona l r e p r e s e n t a t i v e , 
a t t ended the .7ar Cabinet and on one occas i on 
General M a r s h a l l , Ch i e f o f S t a f f t o the 
Un i ted S t a t e s Army, a t t e n d e d . 

On va r i ous occas ions o f f i c i a l s a t tended 
f o r p a r t i c u l a r i t e m s , e . g . o f f i c i a l s f rom ths 
Fore i gn O f f i c e , s e n i o r o f f i c e r s from the 
S e r v i c e Departments, the Commanders-la-Chief 
o f Overseas Co^imends and o f A l l i e d armies 
i n the f i e l d and the pe r sona l a s s i s t a n t s o r 
r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s of the Pr ime M i n i s t e r . 

http://att6Boan.ee


The general p rac t i ce l e that only member a o f the Cabinet 
a re present when the Chancellor o f the Enehequer informs the 
Cabinet o f M e Budget proposa ls , 

t e e a l ee p. 2*. 

I n 1917 there were present i n addi t ion to 
the cab inet , the two Chiefs o f S ta f f , S i r 
Henry Wilson, the Acting Secretary of State 
for Foreign A f f a i r s , and the Permanent Under-
Secretary o f State f o r Foreign A f f a i r s , and 
tee Chief a of the Maws! fltaff and the 
ID 1919a eight other Ministers were present. 
F i l e 13/1/12V 

More recent exceptions a r e i ­

1940 Permanent Secretary, Treasury 

19142 Secretary o f S ta te for A i r 

1943 Lord Pr ivy Sea l 
Secretary o f S ta te f o r A i r 
Minister o f A i r c r a f t Production 

1944 Lord Chancellor 
Secretary o f S ta te f o r A i r 
Lord Pr ivy See l 
Min is ter o f A i r c r a f t Production 
Min is ter of Information 
Paymster -Oenera l 

1945 Lord Pr ivy Sea l 
Secretary o f State fo r A i r 

1947 ( C M . 36(47)) 
Min is ter o f Pood 
Permanent See rotary , Treasury. 



I t I s usual f o r a member o f the Cab ine t unable t o be 
present t o t a k e s teps t o o b t a i n the Pr ims M i n i s t e r * s l e e r s 
t o be absent . Thin i s u s u a l l y done by t h e M i n i s t e r h imse l f , 
d i r e c t l y o r through h i s P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r y , the S e c r e t a r y 
o f the Cabinet be ing kept in formed. ( C P  . (1.9)95, paragraph 1 7 ) . 

2 i The cur r en t no tes on procedure s t a t e : -

The S e c r e t a r y should a l s o be in fo rmed o f M i n i s t e r s * 
o u t - o f - t o w n engagements, and a l s o o f t h e i r week-end and 
ho l i day arrangements, i n order t h a t , i f so**e sudden emergency 
a r i s e s , he may be i n a p o s i t i o n t o in f o rm the Pr ime M i n i s t e r 
a t once which m i n i s t e r s are Immediate ly a v a i l a b l e . 

( C P . (49)95, paragraphs 14-18) 
2very Fr iday a note i s sent t o the Pr ims M i n i s t e r ' e 

P r i v a t e Sec r e t a r y showing the movements o f M i n i s t e r s ove r 
the f o l l o w i n g week-end. D e t a i l e d l i s t s o f addresses and 
t e l ephone numbers are prepared i n advance o f the *ho l iday * 
p e r i o d s (Mas te r , "h i t sun , the Summer R e c e s s , and Christmas) f o r 
use i n ths Cabinet O f f l o e and 10, Downing S t r e e t . S p e c i a l 
s t ep s are sometimes necessary t o a v o i d t h e absence o f t oo many 
M i n i s t e r s a t any one t ime dur ing the summer r e c e s s . I n June 
P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r i e s a r e asked t o i n d i c a t e t h e i r M i n i s t e r s 
ho l i day p lans and a p r o v i s i o n a l l i s t o f ho l iday arrangements 
i s submitted t o the Pr ime M i n i s t e r so t h a t , b e f o r e p lans 



become f i r m , any necessary adjustments can be c a r r i e d ou t . 
D e t a i l s o f f i r m p lans a r e obta ined i n Ju ly and c o n s o l i d a t e d 
l i s t s prepared . 

See g e n e r a l l y F i l e 32/136. 

The p r a c t i c e o f n o t i n g week-end addresses 
da tes from J u l y , 1928fCab. 3 9 ( 2 8 ) 7 ) . 

I n the past arrangements t o be made dur ing 
Par l i amentary Recess hare f r e q u e n t l y been 
cons ide red a t mee t ings o f t h e Cab ine t . 

I n 1947, i t was found s h o r t l y b e f o r e the 
Summer Recess tha t an i n s u f f i c i e n t number o f 
s e n i o r M i n i s t e r s would be i n o r near London 
dur ing the month of August and one or two 
M i n i s t e r s had t o be asked by the Pr ime M i n i s t e r 
t o change t h e i r p lans a t s h o r t n o t i c e . 

t 
I n 1946, a t the submission o f the Se c r e t a r y 

o f the C a b i n e t , the Pr ime M i n i s t e r mentioned a t 
Cabinet meet ing i n June the need f o r eo-ordina** 

i o n o f ho l i day p lans and asked m i n i s t e r s t o 
In form the Se c r e t a r y o f t h e i r i n t e n t i o n s . 
( C M . 3 5 ( 4 8 ) 2 ) . 

On the despatch o f business dur ing ho l iday 
p e r i o d s , see p . 53 



Scope of Business 

22. The Cabinet has no terms of reference. In the report of the 
Haldane Committee on the Machinery of Government (Cmd. 9230 of 1918) 
its main functions were described as fol lows:­

(a) the final determination of the policy to be submitted to 
3 a r liament; 

(b) the supreme control of the national executive in accordance 
with the policy prescribed by Parliament; and 

(c) the continuous co-ordination and delimitation of the authority 
of the several Departments of State. 

23. There are, however, certain matters which are not regarded as 
appropriate for collective decision; and by custom these are not normally 
discussed in Cabinet. Lord Oxford and Asquith said that these included 
"the exercise of the prerogative of mercy, the personnel of the Cabinet 
and the making of appointments" (Jennings, page 179); and Jennings 
himself adds the Budget, the exercise of the prerogative of dissolving 
Parliament and, possibly, public prosecutions. 

( i ) Personnel of the Cabinet. This is hardly an example of an 
excluded subject; for it is difficult to imagine circumstances in which a 
Cabinet could usefully discuss its own composition or its members. 
The composition of the Cabinet - both its size and the individuals who 
should compose it - is essentially a matter for the personal decision of 
the Pr ime Minister himself. He first forms it; and, if changes are 
required, he must make them. No one could suppose that this could be 
Cabinet business. Gladstone is reported to have said in 1882, in a 
letter to a friend:- " I can affirm with confidence that the notion of a 
title in the Cabinet to be consulted on the succession to a Cabinet office 
is absurd. It is a title which Cabinet Ministers do not possess. 
During thirty eight years since I f irst entered the Cabinet, I have never 
known more than a friendly announcement before publicity and very partial 
consultation perhaps with one or two, especially the leaders in the Second 
House. " (Morley 's "L i fe of Gladstone", Volume III, page 131). 

( i i ) Making of appointments. Appointments are normally made by 
the decision of the Prime Minister or of the Minister having power to 
make the appointment. But, where political considerations are involved, 
the responsible Minister may mention the person whom he has in mind to 
his colleagues in Cabinet and give them the opportunity of expressing 
their views on the political considerations. The responsible Minister 
is normally left to take his final decision in the light of that expression 
of views. The Minister would not normally put his proposals to the 
Cabinet in a formal memorandum inviting their approval. Nor would it 
be usual for the Cabinet formally to record a collective decision in 
favour of a particular appointment. In the case of appointments of the 
highest importance e. g. before India attained independence, the 
appointment of a Viceroy - the Pr ime Minister would often inform the 
Cabinet in advance, as a matter of courtesy, of the advice which he was 
proposing to tender to the King. 



( i i i ) Prerogative of iNAercy. The Home Secretary 's responsibility 
for advising His K/.ajesty on the exercise of the prerogative of mercy 
is a purely personal jurisdiction. It is accepted that the final advice 
must be decided by the personal judgment of a single individual, after 
weighing all the considerations to be taken into account. Although 
these considerations will often include some to which the courts could 
not have regard, the function is in essence judicial. Exceptionally, 
however, cases arise into which important political considerations 
enter; and on these occasions the Home Secretary may wish to have 
some discussion with his Cabinet colleagues. Thus, when Roger Casement 
was sentenced to death for treason in 1916, the Home Secretary consulted 
the Cabinet on the question whether it would be politically expedient to 
advise a reprieve for the purpose of placating public opinion in Ireland 
and the United States. He circulated to the Cabinet memoranda by his 
official advisers, who were strongly in favour of allowing the law to take 
its course, and some of the representations received from private persons 
urging clemency. The Cabinet considered this case at two meetings; 
and on each occasion expressed the view that there should be no reprieve 
(Home Office file 311,643/171). Similarly, in February, 1940, the War 
Cabinet discussed the case of two members of the Irish Republican Army 
who had left a bomb in the carr ier of a tradesman's cycle in a Coventry 
street and had been convicted of the murder of the persons killed by its 
explosion. This came before the Cabinet at the instance of the Secretary 
of State for Dominion Af fa irs , who believed that the execution of these men 
would provoke feelings of hostility in E i re and impair our war effort. 
These issues were discussed at four meetings of the War Cabinet: but 
the Home Secretary (Sir John Anderson) insisted that the final decision 
must remain with him and that the proper l imits of a Cabinet discussion 
on such a question should be clearly understood. While it was right that 
he should have the assistance of his Cabinet colleagues in assessing what 
weight should be given to the political considerations involved - and, in 
particular, that he should hear the views of the Foreign Secretary and the 
Dominions Secretary on the probable reaction of oublic opinion in the 
United States and Eire respectively - the Home Secretary must himself 
decide, after hearing the views of his colleagues and weighing all the 
considerations which he must take into account, whether or not he should 
advise the exercise of clemency. On that occasion opinions in the War 
Cabinet were divided; and, although various Ministers supported the plea 
of the Dominions Secretary that the prisoners should be reprieved in 
order to placate opinion in E i re , the Home Secretary decided that it was 
his duty to allow the law to take its course. The prisoners we re 
executed; and the political consequences feared by some members of 
the War Cabinet did not in fact follow. 

No reference to these discussions was included in the War 
Cabinet iv/inutes. A full record was made of them, however, and two 
copies of this have been preserved - one in the Home Office file 
827,810/61 and the other in Sir Edward Br idges ' collection of 
confidential War Cabinet records. 

( iv ) Public Prosecutions. It is the personal responsibility of the 
Attorney-General to decide whether a public prosecution should be 
instituted; and he must be careful to avoid any suspicion of having 
allowed his judgment to be influenced by political considerations. 
There may, however, be occasions on which such orosecutions involve 
questions of public policy. These are not limited to prosecutions for 
political offences, such as sedition: they may also arise in connection 
with the prosecution of the instigators of an i l legal strike. On such 
occasions it is proper for the Attorney-General to ascertain the views of 



the Cabinet on the question whether the institution of proceedings would 
be contrary to the public interest. Even then, however, it is probably 
safer that the Cabinet should not purport to direct the Attorney either 
to prosecute or to refrain from prosecuting. It is better that, having 
expressed their views of the considerations of public policy which 
arise, they should leave him free in form to talce his own decision 
whetner to prosecute or not. The withdrawal, after Cabinet interven­
tion, of a prosecution instituted by the Attorney-General led directly 
to the defeat of the Government in 1924 (Jennings, pages l o l - 2 ) . 

(v) Dissolution of Parliament. Jennings states that, since the 
end of the first war, the Cabinet has never discussed the exercise of the 
prerogative of dissolving Parliament (page 183), though he adds that if 
the .?rime iv inister desires the advice of the Cabinet there is nothing 
to prevent him from raising the question. 

Questions relating to the Dissolution of Parliament were in fact 
discussed on several occasions by k r . Att lee 's Cabinet in 1949/53. 
Thus ­

(a) Before their formal meeting on 13th October, 1949, the members 
of the Cabinet together with the Chief Whip met to consider whether a 
General £lection should be held in the autumn of that year or postponed 
until 1953 (the Governments term of office was due to end in July, 195), 
at latest). No Secretary was present, and it was decided that no 
reference to the discussion should be included in the Cabinet Conclu­
sions, on the ground that it was concerned with Party, and not Cabinet, 
business. \L n the front page of the Conclusions the meeting was recorded 
as having begun at 12 noon, which was the time when the Secretary was 
admitted and the formal meeting began. 

A "No Circulation Record" (see Part IV) was, however, made 
to indicate that the discussion on the Election had ta^en place. In this 
was reproduced the text of the communique issued to the Press after 
the meeting, which was as fol lows:­

"Having regard to the disturbing effects on trade and industry 
and on the national effort by the continuance of sneculations 
as to an early General Election, the Pr ime lv.inister thinks 
it right to inform the country of his decision not to advise 
His JV.ajesty to dissolve Par l iament this year. " 

(b) The Cabinet met on 13th January, 195?, to hear from the Pr ime 
Iv-inister that he had advised the King to dissolve Parliament with a view 
to the holding of a General Election on 23rd February. No Secretary 
attended, but a set of Conclusions was circulated consisting of a Front 
Page and the following Jv.inute:­

"THE FRIJvJL MINISTER informed the Cabinet of the advi. nce which he had tendered to The King about the dissolution of 
the oresent Parliament and the calling of a new Parliament, 
which advice His Vajesty had been pleased to accept. " 

i meeting notice, but no agenda, had been circulated in advance 
of the meeting. 



(c) The General Election of 1950 left lv-r. Att lee 's Government 
with a majority in the House of Commons of only 6; and the Conser­
vative Opposition at once challenged the Government during the Debate 
on the Address by pressing two amendments to a division. On 9th 
Kaarch, when the first of these divisions was to take place, the Pr ime 
V.inister discussed with the Cabinet whether he should ask for a 
dissolution if the Government were defeated on this division. The 
Cabinefs discussion on this point was not recorded in the iVdnutes ­
which stated merely that "The Cabinet had some preliminary d is­
cussion about the situation which would arise if the Government were 
defeated in a division early in the l i fe-t ime of the Parl iament". A 
"No Circulation Record" of the discussion was, however, made; and 
copies of this were sent to the King's Private Secretary and to the Pr ime 
Ivdnister's Pr ivate Secretary, for their personal information. 

(vi ) The Budget. The Chancellor of the Exchequer explains his 
Eudget prooosals to the Cabinet orally at a special meeting usually held 
on the day before he opens his Budget in the House of Commons. By 
then it is too late for him to make any substantial changes in his plans; 
and any consultations which he may wish to have with other inisters 
have been carried out informally beforehand. Thus, the Budget is not 
treated as collective business. Jennings is right in giving, as the 
reason for this procedure, the fundamental importance of secrecy 
(pages 1C2 - 1&3); but he has not realised the special need for secrecy 
about the details of Budget proposals - v iz . the danger that any leakage 
might be made the basis of speculation on the Stock Exchange. The 
fact that this actually occurred in 1936, as a result of an indiscretion by 
lv..r. J.H. Thomas, is likely to be a conclusive answer for many years to 
come to any suggestion that the details of the Budget should be 
formulated through normal Cabinet discussions. 

The Budget Cabinet is held as near to the Budget Speech as 
practicable - usually on the day before, and preferably in the afternoon 
or evening. The dates in recent years are : -

CABINET BUDGET 

1945 : 22nd October (a, m ) 23rd October 
1946 8th A p r i l (a. m. ) 9th A p r i l 
1947 14th Apri l (p. m. ) 15th Apri l 
1947 11th November (a. m. ) 12th November 
1948 5th Apri l (a. m. ) 6th Apri l 
1949: 5th Anril (a. m. ) 6th Aor i l 

On occasions - e. g. Civ..(47) 3oth Conclusions and (47) 86th Conclusions ­
other business has been taken at the same meeting, but efforts are always 
made to avoid this. 

In 1917 the Cabinet minutes recorded the Budget discussion in 
some detail, but since then details have never been recorded. The 
token minute reads: 

"The Chancellor of the Exchequer communicated to the 
Cabinet particulars of the proposals in the forthcoming 
Budget. 

In accordance with precedent, details are not recorded 
in the Cabinet Conclusions. " 



In 1950 the suggestion was made that the Cabinet should have 
some discussion about the general principles of the Budget before the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer formulated its details. This suggestion 
was justified on the ground of the Governments difficult Parliamentary 
situation - they had a majority in the House of Commons of only six 
over all other Part ies - and the need to avoid a controversial Budget. 
But, although this was the occasion for making it, the suggestion 
undoubtedly reflected a growing feeling among Ministers that the 
Budget was becoming one of the main instruments of economic policy 
and it was unreasonable that this should be the one aspect of economic 
planning on which no opportunity was given for the collective formula­
tion of policy. The Cabinet therefore devoted the greater part of one 
meeting to a general discussion of the economic situation in relation to 
the Budget: (CM. (50 ) ?th Conclusions). The Chancellor made an oral 
report on the economic and financial situation and the main factors which 
he wpuld have to take into account in framing his Budget proposals; and 
the other members of the Cabinet took this opportunity of making specific 
suggestions to him and expressing their views about the broad lines 
which the Budget might follow. They intended to resume this discussion 
during the following week; but in the event they found it inconvenient to 
do this and agreed, instead, that Ministers who had specific suggestions 
to make should send them in writing to the Chancellor (CM. (50 ) 9th 
Conclusions, Minute 5). One of these raised the question whether it 
was right to continue to aim at a substantial Budget surplus; and the 
Pr ime Minister asked the Chancellor of the Exchequer to circulate a 
paper on this question as a basis for discussion at a further meeting of 
the Cabinet. The Cabinet met for this purpose on l"th March and, 
after a full discussion, endorsed the general policy outlined in the 
Chancellor's memorandum, and his approach to the problems of the 
forthcoming Budget (CM. (50 ) 12th Conclusions). 

None of these discussions was recorded in the Cabinet Minutes. 
It was the general view of Vinisters that this experiment had been 
valuable, since it had enabled the Cabinet to discuss the general 
principles of Budgetary policy, while leaving the Chancellor to formulate 
the details of his Budget in the light of the views expressed by his 
colleagues. 

It is perhaps possible to deduce a general principle governing 
this exclusion of certain subjects from Cabinet discussion. £"or the 
Budget procedure there are special reasons of secrecy. For the rest 
it may be said that the matters which are not regarded as appropriate 
for cpllective discussion by the Cabinet are all, in varying degrees, 
matters requiring a quasi-judicial decision. Guch a decision, in the last 
resort , can best be given by the judgment of a single individual. 
Moreover , it must be a decision which is, and is seen to be, taken on an 
objective appreciation of all the relevant factors. Although these may 
include political factors, political considerations and influences must not 
be thought to have carried undue weight in the decision - and the Cabinet 
is, necessarily and properly, a political body. 

-21d­



ques t ions concern ing f o r e i g n and m i l i t a r y a f f a i r s a r e not 
n e c e s s a r i l y Brought be fo re t h e Cabinet f o r d e c i s i o n , a l though 
they a re f r e q u e n t l y d iscussed i n Cab ine t and M i n i s t e r a a r e 
kept informed by the c i r c u l a t i o n o f memoranda and t e l e g rams 
by the Fo r e i gn O f f i c e , Commonwealth R e l a t i o n s O f f i c e and 
C o l o n i a l O f f i c e and, I n c e r t a i n c a s e s , the S e r v i c e Departments. 

I t i s usua l f o r ' F o r e i g n A f f a i r s ' t o be p l a c ed a t the 
beg inn ing o f the agenda f o r the f i r s t o f t h e two 
r e g u l a r weekly meet ings o f the C a b i n e t , so tha t the F o r e i g n 
s e c r e t a r y has a r e g u l a r oppo r tun i t y o f in fo rming the Cabinet 
o f c u r r e n t deve l opment 

By 1927 the p r a c t i c e of having "Fo re i gn 
A f f a i r s * on the Agenda, which had h i t h e r t o 
been somewhat i n t e r m i t t e n t , c r y s t a l l i s e d and 
t h e r e a f t e r i  t appeared r e g u l a r l y up t o the 
p e r i o d Immediate ly b e f o r e the war. During 
1938 and 1939 t h e r e were very few Cab ine ts 
which d id not b e g in w i t h f o r e i g n A f f a i r s * as 
t h e f i r s t i t e m . The usual en t r y en the 
Agenda was "FORSIGI! AFFAIRS ( i f r e q u i r e d ) " , 
but o f t e n a p a r t i c u l a r I t e m was noted under the 
g e n e r a l head ing , e . g . "FORJ3IOH AFFAIRS s 
S i t u a t i o n i n Ch ina . " F i l e 48 P a r t 2, minute 
o f 22nd November, 1945. 

During the war i t was the r e g u l a r p r a c t i c e 
t o put the f o r e i g n and m i l i t a r y s i t u a t i o n s 
f i r s t on the Agenda f o r the Monday mee t ings 
of the War Cab ine t . 

The p r a c t i c e o f p u t t i n g " F o r e i g n A f f a i r s " 
on th s Agenda a t the f i r s t o f the two weekly 
meet ings o f the Cabinet was r e s t o r e d i n 
November, 1945. F i l e k& P a r t 2 , Minute of 
27th November, 1945* 



ZY When Par l i ament  In  I n s e s s i o n Par l iamentary Business 
i s r e g u l a r l y t aken , as a f i r s t i t e m , at the Thursday mee t ing 
of the Cab ine t . The Cabinet are then informed  o f the business 
i n the House  o f Cannons  i n the f o l l o w i n g s e e k ; any necessary 
adjustments a r e taken up and arrangements made f o r Government 
spokesmen. The Ch ie f Whip r e g u l a r l y a t t e n d s f o r t h i s 
purpose. Business  i n the House  o f Lo rds  i s d i scussed when 
ma t t e r s  o f c on t rove r sy a r i s e ; and e t h e r Par l i amentary ma t t e r s 
( e . g . S e l e c t Committees, Committee  o f P r i v i l e g e s ) are o f t e n 
r a i s e d  a t the same t i m e . 

See g e n e r a l l y F i l e U/l/51. 

The Parliamentary programme was net 
r egu la r l y reviewed week by week by pre-war 
Cabinets . 

Un t i l October, 19h7  i t was customary  to 
record d e t a i l s of even rout ine business  i n the 
Cabinet minutes.  I t was then arranged, with the 
agreement of the Prime Min i s te r , the Lard 
President (as Leader  of the House of Commons) and 
the Chief ?hlp, that d e t a i l s would be omitted 
from the minutes and a separate note c i r cu l a ted 
by the Secretary of the Cabinet , each 
Thursday afternoon, showing the House of 

f o r the f o l l o w i n g week. T h i s p r a c t i c e 
was , however, d i s con t inued  i n 19h8, and 
Departments now r e c e i v e ( f r om the Government 
Whips* O f f i c e ) on l y c o p i e s  o f the bus iness s t a t e ­
msnt  i n the House  o f Commons. AnAnyy s i g n i f i c a ns i g n i f i c a n tt 
p o i n t s a r i s i n g a r e , however , noted  i n the 
Cabinet -

At the l a s t r e g u l a r mee t ing  o f t h e Cabinet 
b e f o r e a Par l i amentary r e c e s s  I t  i s usua l  t o 
take the Pa r l i amenta ry bus iness f o r the f i r s t 
week a f t e r the 

On o c cas i on ,  i f the Cab ine t  i s not mee t ing 
on Thursday, ^Par l iamentary Bus iness*  i s taken 
e a r l i e r  i n the week. F r e q u e n t l y , however 
changes have  t o made subsequent ly . (Sxcept iona l l y 
the House  o f Commons programme  i s sometimes 
s e t t l e d o u t s i d e the Cabinet  i n d i s cuss i on between 
the Chiep /hip and the Leader  o f the House  o f 

and.  I f necessary , t h e Prime M i n i s t e r ) . 

I n 1949, when l i m i t e d Par l i amentary t ime 
was a l l owed f o r P r i v a t e Membera' B i l l s , p o i n t s 
a r i s i n g from d i s c u s s i o n o f them by the 
L e g i s l a t i o n Committee were taken w i th 
"Pa r l i amenta ry Bus iness " and t h e Government^ 
a t t i t u d e on each B i l l e x p l a i n e d . 



A t r e g u l a r i n t e r v a l e ^ o n o m i e A f f a i r s * i s pa t on the 
Agenda, when the p e r i o d i c a l Economic Repor t submit ted by the 
Chance l l o r o f the Exchequer I s d i s cussed . The P r o d u c t i o n 
Ministers?, , a t t end f o r t h i s d i s c u s s i o n . 

/ ^ .  j \ — T h e Sconomic Report was f i r s t suggested i n 
/ /c ^^^rjl October, 1947 as a means of a f fo rd ing Ministers 

- 7 ^ a  peg^ajp statement, supported by s t a t i s t i c s , 
JUjlj,

 a

 trends and developments i n the economic s i t ­o n

^ A ^ y / uat ioa . The f i r s t Report ( C P. (47)309) was 
c i rcu lated on 21st November, 1947s and Economic 
A f f a i r s 1 f i r s t appeared on,the agenda on 
2nd December, 19U7 ( C M . 92(47)2). For the 
f i r s t few months the Report was submitted 
f o r tn i ght ly , but a monthly report was l a t e r 
submitted. 

The Budget 

jL The budget i s out l ined o r a l l y to the Cabinet by the 
Chancel lor of the Exchequer before i t i s presented in the 
Rouse of Commons, but the Chancel lor*s statement and the 
d iscuss ion on i t are not recorded . in the minutes. 

On attendance at *Budget Cabinets * 

See Jennings, p 182. 

The Budget i s normally taken a t a spec ia l 
;33eting of the Cabinet on the day before 
the Budget i s presented in the House of Commons 
(pre ferab ly at an afternoon meeting) . On 
occasion ( e . g . CM.36(47) and 86(47)) other 
business has been taken a t the same meeting, 
but e f f o r t s are always made to avoid t h i s . 

I n 1917 the Cabinet minutes recorded the 
Budget d iscuss ion in some d e t a i l , but s ince 
then de ta i l s have never been recorded. The 
tokea minute r e a d s : ­

2 3 



The da t e s o f r e cen t 'Budget C a b i n e t s ' i n 
r e l a t i o n t o the da t e o f the Budget a r e : ­

Cigfr^fit Budget 

1945: 22nd October (a .nw) 23rd October 
1946: 8th A p r i l (a . ra . ) 9th A p r i l 
1947: 14th A p r i l (p . ia . ) 15th A p r i l 

" n t h November 1a.m.) 12th November 
1948* 5th A p r i l ( a .m . ) 6th A p r i l 
1949: 5th A p r i l ( a .m . ) 6th A p r i l 

v/hjte Papers 

There i s no requirement tha t proposed White Papers as such 
should be brought b e f o r e the Cab ine t b e f o r e they a re pub l i shed . 
White Papers on major quest ions o f p o l i c y a r e , however, normal ly 
submitted t o a M i n i s t e r i a l Committee o r the Cabinet b e f o r e i s s u e . 

See F i l e 4/3/137, p a r t i c u l a r l y minute o f 
8th A p r i l , 1946. 

On p u b l i c i t y arrangements f o r White Papers 
see P a r t *?T/ . 

2fc 



ACTIOB PRIOR TO SUBMISSIOB OF BPSIHB83 

2$ Toe current notes on procedure s t a t e : -

The bus iness o f the Cab ine t c o n s i s t s , i n the main, o f ­

( i ) Quest ions o f major p o l i c y which a f f e c t a number o f 
Departments o r engage t h e c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y 
o f the Government. 

(11 ) Quest ions on which t h e r e i s a c o n f l i c t o f i n t e r e s t 
between Departments which has no t been r e s o l v e d . 

Except i n cases o f extreme urgency , ques t i ons f a l l i n g 
under the second o f these heads should not be r e f e r r e d t o the 
Cab ine t u n t i l a l l p o s s i b l e means o f r e s o l v i n g the c o n f l i c t 
have been exhausted , i n c l u d i n g pe rsona l correspondence o r 
d i s cuss i on between the M i n i s t e r s concerned . 

S i m i l a r l y , i t i s the r u l e tha t ma t t e r s f a l l i n g under the 
f i r s t head should be thorough ly examined a t the o f f i c i a l l e v e l , 
i f n e c e s s a r i l y i n t e r d e p a r t m e n t a l l y , b e f o r e they a r e r e f e r r e d t o 
M i n i s t e r s , so t h a t the p o l i c y d e c i s i o n s r e q u i r e d may be 
c l e a r l y d e f i n e d . 

P roposa l s which i n v o l v e expend i ture o r a f f e c t g e n e r a l 
f i n a n c i a l o r economic p o l i c y should a lways be d i scussed 
w i t h the Treasury - and, i f Treasury agreement has no t been 
secured a t the o f f i c i a l l e v e l , w i t h t h e Chance l l o r o f the 
Exchequer - b e f o r e they a re submit ted t o the Cabinet o r t o 
a M i n i s t e r i a l Committee. F u l l c o n s i d e r a t i o n must a l s o be 
g i v e n t o the probab le c o s t i n terms o f man-power o f any 
p roposa l i n v o l v i n g new o r extended a d m i n i s t r a t i v e commitments. 
I t i s a s tanding i n s t r u c t i o n t h a t any proposa ls submit ted f o r 
c o n s i d e r a t i o n s h a l l , i f they would I n v o l v e the employment of 
a d d i t i o n a l s t a f f o r would p l a c e a f i n a n c i a l burden on the 
Exchequer, be accompanied by an e s t ima t e o f ­

( a ) the man-power l i k e l y t o be r e q u i r e d by Government 
Departments (and a l s o , where p r a c t i c a b l e , an 
e s t ima t e o f the man-power r e q u i r e d o u t s i d e the 
Government s e r v i c e ) ; and 

( b ) the c o s t t o the Exchequer , whether d i r e c t o r through 
g r a n t s - i n - a i d o f l o c a l r a t e s . 

An i n d i c a t i o n should always be g i v e n t h a t t h e c o s t t o the 
Exchequer has been d iscussed w i t h the T r e a s u r y ; and s p e c i a l 
a t t e n t i o n should be drawn t o p roposa l s o f whose p o t e n t i a l 
man-povter requirements the Treasury have not been In fo rmed . 

These r u l e s do n o t , o f c o u r s e , l i m i t the r i g h t o f M i n i s t e r s 
t o submit t o the Cabinet memoranda s e t t i n g out t h e i r v i ews on 
g e n e r a l i s sues o f p o l i c y . 

M i n i s t e r s should not h e s i t a t e t o c o n s u l t the Law O f f i c e r s , 
as c o l l e a g u e s i n the Government, on l e g a l ques t i ons which 
a r i s e i n the f o rmu la t i on and a d m i n i s t r a t i o n o f p o l i c y . 

Mat t e rs which f a l l who l l y w i t h i n the Departmental 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y o f a s i n g l e M i n i s t e r and do not engage the 
c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y o f the Government need not be 
brought t o Cabinet a t a l l . A p r e c i s e d e f i n i t i o n o f such 
mat t e rs cannot be g i v e n and i n b o r d e r l i n e eases a M i n i s t e r 
i s w e l l adv i s ed t o b r ing the mat te r b e f o r e h is c o l l e a g u e s . 

( C P . (h9 )95, paragraphs 1-7) 



I n January, 1920 the Cabinet ( 1 ( 2 0 ) ) r u l e d 
that the f i n a n c i a l d e t a i l s o f p roposa l s must be 
d i scussed w i t h the Treasury be f o r e submission, 
and t o t h i s end they a g r e ed t h a t a Treasury 
r e p r e s e n t a t i v e should be added t o the Cabinet 
S e c r e t a r i a t . 

I n 1924 i t was l a i d down (Cab. 27(24 )4 ) tha t 
the Law O f f i c e r s should s e e d r a f t B i l l s a t an 
e a r l y s t a g e and tha t p r i o r c o n s u l t a t i o n between 
Departments should a lways be c a r r i e d o u t . A 
Treasury c i r c u l a r was issued ( A p r i l , 1924) c o v e r i n g 
these p o i n t s ; i t a l s o l a i d down the r u l e t ha t 
no memorandum could be put on the Cabinet agenda 
u n t i l a t l e a s t f i v e days a f t e r i t s c i r c u l a t i o n . 
Th is c i r c u l a r was r e - i s s u e d when Mr. Ba ldwin 'a 
Government took o f f i c e l a t e r i n 1921* (Cab. 59 ( 24 ) 1 ) . 

I n 1929 the Cabinet r u l e d tha t d r a f t B i l l s 
should not be submitted u n t i l a f t e r t h e i r sub jec t 
ma t t e r had been f u l l y examined between the 
Department r e spons i b l e and the T r easury , the 
Law O f f i c e r s (where c on t en t i ous B i l l s were 
concerned) and the o the r Departments i n t e r e s t e d . 
(Cab. 22(29 )1 ) . T h i s d e c i s i o n was s p e c i a l l y 
brought t o the a t t e n d ! o n o f Departments i n 1931 
i n Treasury C i r c u l a r 8/31 o f 25th February , 1931 
and aga in i n Treasury C i r c u l a r Ho. 13/37 o f 
24th June, 1937. P i l e s 15/34/1 F t s . 1 and 2) 

Be f o r e the war a l l B i l l s had t o have p r i o r 
approva l by the Cabinet b e f o r e i n t r o d u c t i o n , but 
dur ing the war t h i s p r a c t i c e l a p s e d . I n 1944, 
however, i n connec t i on w i t h the R e q u i s i t i o n e d 
Land and . .ar-/orks B i l l (which had been 
in t roduced wi thout submiss ion o f the d r a f t t o 
the a r Cab ine t ) the War Cabinet r u l e d that no 
B i l l d e a l i n g w i t h a c o n t r o v e r s i a l sub j e c t should 
be in t roduced un l ess the p o l i c y had been cons ide red 
and approved by the War Cab ine t . (W .M*25 (45 )4 ) . 

I n December, 1942 the Bar Cabinet asked 
(W.P. (42) 541 and W.M.l63 (42)) t ha t f u l l 
c o n s i d e r a t i o n should be g i v e n t o t h e man-power 
i m p l i c a t i o n s o f new p r o p o s a l s . 

I n 1947 Departments were r e q u i r e d , i n terms 
o f Treasury C i r c u l a r Ho . 16/47, t o s e e tha t when 
p roposa l s were put b e f o r e the Cabinet o r a 
m i n i s t e r i a l Committee an es t imate was inc luded 
o f any a d d i t i o n a l man-power r e q u i r e d t o put them 
i n t o e f f e c t . Th i s i n s t r u c t i o n was r epea ted i n 
the g e n e r a l d i r e c t i v e i s sued by the Prime M i n i s t e r 
i n November, 1948 ( C . P . (48 )288) on the cos t o f 
new schemes i n men and money. The substance o f 
t h i s d i r e c t i v e was reproduced i n paragraph 4 o f 
C P . (49) 95. P i l e 15/34/36. 



The Cabinet*s uiscussion normally proceeds on the bas i s 
of memoranda c i rcu la ted l a advance of t h e i r meeting. 

The current notes on procedure s t a t e : -

Memoranda f o r the Cabinet should be as b r i e f and as c l e a r 
as poss i b l e . The model memorandum expla ins at the outset 
what the problem i s , indicates b r i e f l y the re levant 
considerat ions and concludes with a prec ise statement of the 
dec is ion sought. While i t i s sometimes u se fu l to include 
a summary of the main points brought out i n the body of the 
memorandum, such a summary should never exceed a few l i n e s ; 
any longer summary defeats i t s purpose and simply means 
r epe t i t i on . So f a r as poss ib l e prefatory covering notes should 
be avoided. To f a c i l i t a t e reference in d iscuss ion , paragraphs 
should be numbered. Supporting data may often be re legated 
to an Appendix. I f authority i s sought to make a statement 
or despatch a telegram a d r a f t may be attached. Time spent 
i n making a memorandum short and c l e a r w i l l be saved many times 
over in reading and in d iscuss ion ; and i t i s the duty of 
Ministers to ensure that th i s i s done by personal scrut iny , 
and where necessary r ev i s ion of the memoranda submitted to 
them by the i r o f f i c i a l s . I n p a r t i cu l a r , the use of 
unnecessary neologisms and obscure technica l terms should be 
avoided. 

( C P . ( 4 9 ) 9 5 , paragraph 10) 

A memorandum intended f o r considerat ion by the Cabinet, 
other than one commenting on a memorandum already c i r cu l a ted , 
must be c i r cu l a ted two c l e a r days before the meeting a t 
which i t l e to be considered. A precise formulation of th i s 
ru l e has been issued to a l l Departments by the Secretary of the 
Cabinet , who i s responsib le fo r seeing that i t i s s t r i c t l y 
enforced. The permission of the Prime Min i s te r i s required for 
any exception to th is ru l e and w i l l be granted only in cases 
of extreme urgency. 

( C P . ( 4 3 ) 9 5 , paragraph 9 ) 

The pre-war ru l e was that memoranda 
should be c i rcu la ted f ive c l e a r days before 
the meeting at which they were to be considered 
(C .P .88 (36 ) Appendix I )  . This ru le (which went 
back to 1924) was re laxed during the war of 1939-45 
during which the .resent two day ru le was 
introduced. 

I n 1945 when the Caretaker Government took 
o f f i c e a number of Coa l i t i on Government memoranda 
remained to be considered. The Secretary of the 
Cabinet asked the successors of the outgoing 
Ministers responsib le for these memoranda whether 
they were prepared to resubmlt them in t h e i r own 
name or whether they wished them to be withdrawn. 
A number were i n fact considered without change 
by the new Cabinet. P i l e 4/3/261. 

Z7 



1st 1932 the Prime M i n i s t e r (Mr* Maedonald) 
(Cab.9(32)11) asked " t h a t b i s c o l l e a g u e s should 
make I t a r e g u l a r p r a c t i c e be f o r e c i r c u l a t i n g 
memoranda t o the Cabinet t o pass them through 
h i s hands . " Such p r i o r submission became the 
r u l e , but i n 1934 the Pr ime M i n i s t e r renewed 
h i s r e q u e s t , adding t h a t "he took a l e n i e n t 
v iew as t o what should be c i r c u l a t e d " 
(Cab 13(34)1 and 30(34)2). I t i s not c l e a r l y 
e s t a b l i s h e d when the p r a c t i c e of p r i o r 
submission t o the £r ims M i n i s t e r l a p s e d . I n 
1943* however, the Pr ime M i n i s t e r *s P r i v a t e 
Sec re ta ry sa i d tha t f o r a l l p r a c t i c a l purposes 
the p r a c t i c e had l a p s e d . (Minute o f 27th A p r i l , 
1943 P i l e 4/V6A F t . 2) 

I  t was a l s o customary b e f o r e the War t o send 
t o the Chance l l o r o f t h e Exchequer a copy o f a l l 
memoranda r e c e i v e d f o r c i r c u l a t i o n and t o d e l a y 
c i r c u l a t i o n u n t i l h i s consent was o b t a i n e d . 
Th is p r a c t i c e lapsed on the outbreak o f war i n 
1939. 

ACTIOR IK TEE OABIHBT OFFICE 

Notes on cur rent p r a c t i c e i n the Cabinet O f f i e eJLn
arrangement o f Cabinet business a re g i v e n i n Annex //

 the 
. 



A programme o f f u t u r e business g i v i n g p r o v i s i o n a l n o t i c e 
o f sub j e c t s which w i l l come up f o r d i s cuss i on dur ing the 
f o l l o w i n g week, t o g e t h e r w i t h the numbers o f any papers 
a l r e a d y i s sued on those s u b j e c t s , i s , a f t e r approva l by the 
Prime M i n i s t e r , c i r c u l a t e d by the S e c r e t a r y t o the Cabinet 
each F r i d a y . 

Be f o r e the War the S e c r e t a r y c i r c u l a t e d 
r e g u l a r l y t o members o f the Cabinet a weekly l i s  t 
o f sub j e c t s a w a i t i n g c o n s i d e r a t i o n (CP.88(36) 
paragraph 1 ) . T h i s p r a c t i c e was abandoned dur ing 
the War, but advance n o t i c e o f the f o l l o w i n g 
week ' s business was g i v e n whenever p o s s i b l e . 



5*2 Agenda o f the Cabinet a re nett led by the Prime Minister 
on submission o f the Secretary. They shew subject a to be 
discussed at the meeting (w i th references to re levant 
memoranda and any e a r l i e r discussions) and ind ica te the Ministers] 
other than members o f the Cabinet required to be present a t 
the d iscuss ion. Ministers not i n the Cabinet sutaaoned to 
meetings f o r p a r t i c u l a r items r e c e i v e an agenda paper on which 
the approximate time i s set aga inst each item. 

Per d e t a i l s o f current and pent p rac t i ce 
see PartfVi and f o r preparat ion o f the Agenda 

The rece ip t o f the /Sgenda i s regarded as 
an inv i t a t i on to a Cabinet meeting. 

Before the War i t was customary to seed 
with the copies of the Agenda a formal notice 
call ing a meeting "o f H i s Majesty's servants". 
This notice was issued for Tuesday meetings o f 
the War Cabinet (see minute o f 31st December, 
1940 in P i l e 48 Ft . 1 ) , but the practice lapsed. 
In order that the custom might not be completely 
forsaken the notice was issued (with the Prime 
M in i s t e r ' s approval ) l a connection with the 
meeting o f the Cabinet he ld on 5th A p r i l , 1948 
(Budget Cab ine t ) . See P i l e 4/2/52. 

1( C a b .  ^ ^ ! ) ? ? ^ 
be fore a C P . number was asked fo r i n order 
to avoid over loading the Cabinet Agenda with 
matters which a r e only sent f o r information". 
The p rac t i ce o f "taking note" o f documents o f 
th i s character l apsed on the appointment o f 
the War Cabinet, and i  t was not resumed a f t e r 
the 

POP "Foreign A f f a i r s " , "Parliamentary 
moo" and "^conoraic A f f a i r s " a s items c 

the Agenda see ps^-ws . 

For notes on pre -war p rac t i ce in the 
preparation o f the Agenda see minute o f 2tu 
bar . 1936 on F i l e 4/y4. 



General araPUftg 
The Prime Minister always takes the cha i r at Cabinet 

meetings, unless he i s unavoidably absent; i n that event 
the member of the Cabinet next in order of precedence takes the 
eha i r . 

The Lord President took the Chair at one 
meeting i n 1 9 4 7 ( C M . 7 3 ( 4 7 ) ) b and at one 
meeting i n 1 9 4 8 ( C . M . 5 6 ( 4 8 ) ) , On occasion 
the Foreign Secretary ( C M . 5 7 ( 4 8 ) ) or the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer ( C M . 5 8 ( 4 8 ) ) has 
pres ided. 

Meetings are normally held i n the Cabinet Room at 
10, Downing s t r e e t , I f i t i s necessary f o r the Cabinet to 
meet at a time when the House of Commons i s s i t t i n g and 
important d iv is ions are due to take p l ace , or when a number 
of senior Ministers must be wi th in easy reach of the Chamber, 
the meeting i s held I n the Prime M i n i s t e r ' e room i n the House 
of Commons. 

I n September, 1921 the Cabinet held two 
meetings i n Scotland (Town H a l l , Inverness, and 
Brahan Cast le ) (Cab. 7 4 and 7 5 ( 2 1 ) ) . 

During the war of 1939-45 meetings were 
o f ten held in the Cabinet War Boom. 

I n recent years the Cabinet has on a few 
occasions during the Summer Heeess met in Confer­
ence Room *B* i n the Cabinet O f f i ce and not i n 
the Cabinet iioocy ( e . g . C M . 5 6 ( 4 9 ) , 5 2 ( 4 9 ) ) * 
The reason for t h i s has usua l ly been to make 
i t e a s i e r to prevent knowledge of the 
meeting from becoming pub l i c . I n the summer of 
1 9 4 9 , at the time of the discussions on the 
devaluation of the pound s t e r l i n g the 
p o s s i b i l i t y of holding a Cabinet meeting, 
at Chequers was canvassed, 

I n the 19th Century the Cabinet met 
occasional ly at the Foreign O f f i c e , and i n 
e a r l i e r periods o f ten at the j&ouse of 
the member who had business t o submit. See 
Hankey, Diplomacy by Conference, page 4 9  . 

The Cabinet does not normally note; a l l decisions must 
represent general agreement, and d iscuss ion continues un t i l 
the general sense of the meeting appears. 

Exceptional ly in the past some Cabinets 
appear on occasion to have decided questions 
by vote . See Jennings, 202-3* 

Per general d iscuss ion of pract ice at 
Cabinet meetings i n the pas t^see , Jennings, 
Chapter IX , Section 5, and notes i n F i l e 4/1/56. 



Frequency of Mee^aKfi 

Hft The Cabinet normally meets a t present t a l e s a week - on 
Mondays and Thursdays - while Parliament i s s i t t i n g , but 
add i t iona l meetings are held as required. 

On the timing o f meetings and on the 
advantages o f meetings on Tuesdays a s contrasted 
with Mondays see Annex I I . and minute o f 
27th November, 1945 on P i l e 48 Pt . 2. 

The pre-war Cabinet usua l ly met ones s 
wool: (on Wednesdays) during the Parliamentary 
Session. In the pe r iod immediately before the 
outbreak o f War the Cabinet met da i l y and u n t i l 
February. 1941 the War Cabinet met da i ly . 
Thereafter meetings o f the war Cabinet were 
he ld twice a week with addit ional meetings on 
othsr days, i  f necessary, to deal with 
urgent business . 

Por s t a t i s t i c s o f meetings see Annex I I I . 

Spec ia l or emergency meetlsgs o f the Cabinet are usua l ly 
summoned by telephone messages from the Cabinet O f f i ce on 
the Inst ruct ions o f the Prime Minis ter . The King 4 a Pr ivate 
Secretary should always be informed. I  f time a l lows the 
arrangements are confirmed by the c i r cu la t ion o f as agenda 

Por the summoning of meetings a f te r 
i l working hours ass current Inst ruct ions 

to Duty O f f i c e r s . See a l so P i l s 4/1/15. 



HtftUftfis in Hotter f W w b i 

l a the holiday per iods , v i s . £aster , a h i t sun and Christmas, 
i t i s usual to avoid meetings of the Cabinet Committees and 
indeed of the Cabinet i t s e l f , un less spec ia l l y urgent business 
a r i s e s . A few seeks in advance the Secretary of the Cabinet 
takes the Prime M in i s t e r ' s inst ruct ions on the arrangements to 
be made. The note c i r cu la ted by the Secretary of the Cabinet 
at the Prime Min i s te r * s d i rec t ion usua l l y s tates that i f a 
meeting of the Cabinet I s required every e f f o r t w i l l be made 
to hold i t on a p a r t i c u l a r day so that Ministers can make the i r 
own arrangements accordingly. 

I n the summer Parliamentary Recess i t i s usua l to regard 
the f i r s t s i x or seven weeks as a c l o se per iod i n which 
Cabinet Committee meetings are avoided a l together and meetings 
of the Cabinet kept a s few as po s s i b l e . To avoid c a l l i n g 
Cabinet Committee meetings during th i s per iod the pract ice i s 
to arrange f o r urgent business which would have been taken 
a t them to be taken instead at the Cabinet. A submission in 
th i s general sense i s made to the Prime Minister ea r ly in Ju ly . 

See P i l e 4/l/8i 

The notes issued on the despatch of business 
during the summer recess have been very s i m i l a r 
i n the years 1946-49. In 1946 the note was 
discussed b r i e f l y by the Cabinet ( C M . 7 6 ( 4 6 ) 1 ) . 
This was not thought necessary in subsequent 
years . 

The pre-war pract ice was broadly s imi la r . 



Messages aurinp; Meet ings. 

The cur rent notes on procedure s t a t e s -

Ths Prime Minister*s P r i v a t e Sec r e t a r y on duty a t t h e 
Cabinet room i s r e s p o n s i b l e f o r ensur ing t h a t t h e proceed ings 
o f t h e Cabinet a r e not d i s t u r b e d . To a s s i s t him, M i n i s t e r s 
should g i v e g ene ra l i n s t r u c t i o n s t h a t messages are not 
t o be sent t o them w h i l e i n C a b i n e t , un l e s s they a r e so u rgen t 
tha t they cannot w a i t u n t i l the end o f the mee t ing . 

( C P  . (49)95, paragraph 16) 

j I n June, 1929 the Cabinet (Cab. 24(29)1) 
agreed /the member s e a t e d nea r es t the door 
o f the Cabinet Room should take i n any messages 
f o r M i n i s t e r s . 

I n 1940 i  t was arranged w i t h the Prime 
M i n i s t e r * s P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r y t h a t , even when 
the Pr ime M i n i s t e r was not h imse l f p r esen t a t 
a Cabinet mee t ing , one o f t h e P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r i e s 
would be regarded as on duty a t t h e Cabinet 
room. P i l e 4/1/14. 



AlrHmflftnoe Pf ^eefetarla* 
In present circumstances, unless be is unavoidably 

absent, the Secretary attends all meetings of the Cabinet. 
He is normally accompanied by the Deputy Secretary (Civil) 
and/or the Under-Secretary (according to the subjects on the 
agenda.) The Deputy Secretary (Military) attends when 
military matters are to be discussed. 

"The Secretary will attend meetings of the 
Cabinet, unless instructed to the contrary, for 
the purpose of recording conclusions." 
(CP.  88 (36 ) , Appendix I, paragraph 2). 

On the appointment of a senior member of the 
staff of the Cabinet Office it is usual for the 
Prime Minister to be informed by a note from 
the Secretary of the Cabinet that he will be 
attending Cabinet as a member of the secretariat. 

Until December, 1916 there was no Secretary 
to the Cabinet. On the formation of 
Mr. Lloyd George *s War Cabinet in December, 1916, 
Sir Maurice Hankey, who had been in turn 
Secretary to the Coazaittee of Imperial Defence, 
the War Council, the Dardanelles Committee and 
the War Committee, out of which the War Cabinet 
was evolved, was appointed Secretary to the 
War Cabinet. 

Por general discussion of the position of the 
Secretary of the Cabinet, see Jennings, pp. 186-9; 
debate in House of Commons on Cabinet Office vote, 
13th June, 1922 (Pile I.J.69 ( 1 and 2); 
Hankey, Diplomacy by Conference, Chapter 3* 

War Cabinet meetings during the period 
1939-45 were normally attended, for the 
discussion of particular items, by Assistant 
Secretaries in addition to the Secretary of the 
Cabinet and his senior colleagues. See Gibbs, 

Since the war an Assistant Secretary has on 
occasion attended as a member of the Secretariat 
during holiday periods. See C M . 56 , 59 andfci^ 

On 13th October, 1949, and 10th January, 1950, 
the Cabinet met without a Secretary to discuss the timing 
of a General Election, See paragraph 22 above. 

IT 



CABIKST CQHGLUSIOSS 

General 

The current notes on procedure state:-
It is an instruction to the Secretary, in drafting Cabinet 

Conclusions to avoid, so far as practicable, reference to opinions 
expressed by particular Ministers. The record in respect of 
each item will be limited to the decision of the Cabinet, 
together with such summary of the discussion as may be necessary 
for the guidance of those called upon to take action on the 
decision. Matters of exceptional secrecy may be recorded in 
a "Confidential Annex". 

Copies of the Conclusions are circulated by the Secretary 
to Cabinet Ministers and Ministers of Cabinet rank. Copies 
of "Confidential Annexes" are sent only to the Ministers 
directly concerned. 

Any suggested amendments to Cabinet Conclusions most 
reach the Secretary not later than the next day but one 
following that on which the Meeting was held. Thereafter the 
Conclusions will be sent to be printed in final form. 

(CP. (49)95, paragraphs 19-21) 
In certain circumstances the Secretary may make a record, 

for inclusion In bis "Standard File of Cabinet Conclusions", 
but without any circulation, of particularly delicate and 
secret matters discussed at Cabinet. A copy of these 
"Ho Circulation Records" is occasionally given to the Prime 
Minister*s Private Secretary. 

Cabinet Conclusions are always available in the Cabinet 
Room during meetings of the Cabinet for reference by Cabinet 
Ministers. 

On the form and circulation of Cabinet 
Conclusions, etc, see Part V. 

A systematic record of Cabinet meetings was 
not kept until December, 1916, when the War 
Cabinet was formed and took over the secretarial 
machinery which had served the Committee of 
Imperial Defence. Before that date the only 
record made of Cabinet decisions (apart from 
early "Minutes of Cabinet') was a personal note 
sent by the Prime Minister to the sovereign 
after each meeting of the Cabinet. 

For general discussion of the practice prior 
to the establishment of the Cabinet Secretariat 
and historical accounts of early Cabinet 
practice, including the results of researches 
in the archives at Windsor, etc., s e e Hankey, 
Diplomacy by Conference, Chapter 3j Jennings, 
Chapter 9, Sections 3-5, 7 and 8; .4nson, 
Vol. II (i) pp. 119-121; File 4/1/56. 

Cabinet Conclusions and Cabinet Minutes 
are the same. For a short time, however, after 
tbe full Cabinet was restored in 1919 there was 
a distinction between the two, the Conclusions 
representing the summary record and the minutes 



a detailed report of which only a very few 
copies were made. Ia a notein File GJm/G/2Q
Sir M. Hankey stated: "It was contemplated 
. . . . that in addition to the "Conclusions* 
circulated to all members of the Cabinet, 
somewhat fuller minutes would be required. 
In practice, however, i t has been found more 
convenient that the "Conclusions * should 
constitute the sole official record". (See 
also Annex I . p. 4, to C.P.30(24)) - In 1932 
Mr. George Lansburjg alleged in the House of 
Commons that the Secretary of the Cabinet 
kept a full record of Cabinet meetings In 
addition to the Conclusions. In the light 
of correspondence with Sir M. Hankey he 
subsequently explained that he had been 
misinformed and that the conclusions were 
the sole record. (Hansard. House of Commons, 
12th February, 1932, Cols. 1163-4; File 
CAB/A/27.) 

On one occasion in 1925 Sir M. Hankey 
recorded in manuscript, for the Information 
of the king, a Cabinet discussion on a 
specially secret matter. (File CAB/A/13). 



Decisions of the Cabinet are normally unanimous. 
In the past, however, the dissent of particular Ministers 
has sometimes, exceptionally, been recorded in the Cabinet 
conclusions. 

The conclusions of the meeting of the Cabinet 
on 25th July, 1922 ( 42 (22 ) 3 and h) (Anglo-
American Debt), note the fact that the Lord Privy 
Seal (ir, A. Chamberlain) and the Chancellor 
of the Saccbequer (Sir Robert Home) asked that 
their dissent might be recorded, Lord Balfour 
(Lord President) stated, when the propriety of 
this was questioned, that In his view the 
confidential record of a dissent did not infringe 
the rule that Ministers were corporately 
responsible for all Cabinet decisions, and this 
view was accepted. 

The question was again raised in 1931 and 
the Cabinet ( 8 1 ( 3 1 ) 6 ) took the view, put 
forward by the Prime Minister (Mr, Macdonald,) 
that "the recording of notes of dissent or 
reservation was contrary to the general principle 
of Cabinet unity. 

On 22nd January, 1932, however, the Cabinet 
agreed that in the case of discussions relating 
to balance of trade, import duties and cognate 
matters members of the Cabinet should be 
entitled to record their dissent from conclusions 
of the Cabinet ( 7  ( 3 2 ) 2 ) . Several such notes 
of dissent are recorded (the "agreement to 
differ^. 



The current no tes on procedure s t a t e ex-
A l l M i n i s t e r s a re r e s p o n s i b l e f o r g i v i n g such i n s t r u c t i o n s 

t o t h e i r Departments as may be necessary t o g i v e e f f e c t t o 
the Conclusions o f the Cab ine t , and f o r communicating t o 
subord inate Departments or branches d e c i s i o n s o f which they 
should be made aware. here an urgent m a t t e r a r i s e s i n 
Cabinet unexpec t ed l y , and a d e c i s i o n i s reached r e q u i r i n g 
immediate a c t i o n by a Department not r ep r e s en t ed a t the 
mee t ing , the Sec r e ta ry w i l l ensure that t h e Department 
concerned i s n o t i f i e d f o r t h w i t h . 

( C P . ( 4 9 ) 9 5 , paragraph 22) 

I t was the p r a c t i c e o f the Se c r e t a r y t o 
the War Cabinet o f 1916 - 1919 t o send a 
c o v e r i n g note w i t h each copy o f the Conclus ions 
c i r c u l a t e d i n d i c a t i n g which Departments were 
expec ted t o take a c t i o n on the d e c i s i o n s 
r e c o r d e d . 

I n 1924 the Cabinet (59(24)1) asked 
M i n i s t e r s t o enqu i r e i n t o the arrangements i n 
t h e i r Departments f o r g i v i n g e f f e c t t o d e c i s i o n s . 

I n 1929 t h e Cabinet ag reed t h a t , i n cases 
where a M i n i s t e r was not a v a i l a b l e ( through 
i l l n e s s , urgent pub l i c bus iness , o r f o r some 
o t h e r reason) t o i n s t r u c t h i s Department i n 
r e ga rd t o d e c i s i o n s taken a t Cab ine t , the Prime 
M i n i s t e r had a u t h o r i t y t o a r range f o r n o t i f i c a t i o r 
t o be made t o the Permanent Head o f the 
Department. The Sec r e t a r y was i n s t r u c t e d t o 
b r i n g such cases t o t h e Pr ime M i n i s t e r ' s n o t i c e . 
( C M . 23(29)3). 

I n September, 1939 a c i r c u l a r l e t t e r was 
sent t o P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r i e s making i t c l e a r 
t h a t , no tw i ths tand ing the p r a c t i c e i n the 
War Cabinet o f 1916-19, Departments were 
expec t ed t o t ake a c t i o n f o r t h w i t h on r e c e i p t s 
o f the Conc lus ions . P i l e f$l' 



The Secretary of the Cabinet circulates to Departments 
from time to time schedules of Cabinet Conclusions ("Black 
List") on which no report has been received by him that 
action has been taken. 

I n 1940 the War Cabinet dec ided 
(W.M,268(40)8) t h a t the S e c r e t a r y should 
c i r c u l a t e weekly t o Departments a schedule 
o f the Conclusions reached by the Cabinet I n 
the prev ious week and o f t h e Conclus ions 
r eco rded i n p r e v i ous schedules u n t i l be had 
been informed by the Departments concerned 
i n w r i t i n g tha t the a c t i o n c a l l e d f o r had 
been taken , o r , i n the c a s e o f l ong - t e rm 
p r o j e c t s , tha t the i n i t i a l s t ep s had been 
taken t o implement the Cabinet^ s d e c i s i o n . 
The f i r s t s e r i e s o f schedules was i ssued on 
23rd October, 1940. Th i s p r a c t i c e was main­
t a i n e d a f t e r the w a r , but the i n t e r v a l s a t 
which the schedules were c i r c u l a t e d were 
l eng thened . The present mod i f i ed p r a c t i c e 
was in t roduced i n 1947* See F i l e 48/36* 

On 25th Augus t , 1947 (C.M.74(47)2) the 
Cabinet asked the Sec r e t a r y t o c ons i d e r 
"whether any fu r the r machinery was r e q u i r e d 
t o ensure tha t the arrangements f o r f o l l o w i n g 
up and p rog r e s s ing d e c i s i o n s by M i n i s t e r s 
were adequate t o t h e needs o f the i. r e s en t 
emergency" . Var ious means o f improv ing the 
arrangements ( " b l a c k l i s t s " , p rog ress r e p o r t s , 
e t c . ) were d i s cussed ; one o f the r e s u l t s was 
the i n s t i t u t i o n o f the p e r i o d i c a l Economic 
Repo r t s t o the Cabinet by the Chance l l o r o f the 
Exchequer. F i l e 30/22/56. 



SBCSBCY OF CABIHBT FROCSSDIHGS 

I t i s t h e e s t a b l i s h e d r o l e t ha t p roceed ings o f the 
Cab ine t a re s e c r e t . I t i s the persona l r e s p o n s i b i l i t y o f 
Cabinet M i n i s t e r s t o s ee tha t the r e i s no l eakage o f 
in f o rmat i on about d i s cuss i ons i n the C a b i n e t . T h e i r 
c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y f o r the d e c i s i o n s o f the Cabinet 
imposes t h i s need f o r d i s c r e t i o n upon them and they a r e 
bound a l s o by the P r i v y C o u n c i l l o r ' s oa th . 

p recaut ions aga ins t unauthor ised d i s c l o s u r e s o f i n f o rma t i on 
artf noted i n paragraphs 3 ^  8 o f C P . (49)95. 

For e a r l i e r no tes on the need f o r 
s e c r e cy s e e F i l e 4/1/6A. 

Fo r g ene ra l d i s c u s s i o n o f the s e c r e c y o f 
Cabinet proceed ings see Jennings , pp. 208-210. 

The r e l e v a n t passage o f the P r i v y 
C o u n c i l l o r ^ oath i s ; ­

"You s h a l l , i n a l l t h i n g s t o be moved, 
t r e a t e d , and debated i n Counc i l , f a i t h ­
f u l l y and t r u l y d e c l a r e your Mind and 
Opinion a c c o r d i n g t o your Hear t and 
Conscience and s h a l l keep s e c r e t a l l 
Mat ters r e v e a l e d unto your o r tha t s h a l l 
be t r e a t e d o f s e c r e t l y i n Counc i l . And 
i f any o f the s a i d T r e a t i e s o r Counc i l s 
s h a l l touch any o f the C o u n s e l l o r s , you 
s h a l l not r e v e a l i t unto him, but w i l l 
keep the same u n t i l such t ime a s , by the 
Consent o f H i s Ma j e s t y , o r o f the Counc i l , 
P u b l i c a t i o n s h a l l be made t h e r e o f . " 

On the procedure f o r t r a c i n g l e akages of 
i n f o rma t i on see g e n e r a l l y F i l e S50/10/15. 

On the K i n g ' s consent t o d i s c l o s u r e o f 
Cabinet p roceed ings i n s ta tements by r e s i g n i n g 
M i n i s t e r s , s e e P a r t I I  . 

On the Secu r i t y o f Cab ine t Documents and 
r e s t r i c t i o n s on t h e i r c i r c u l a t i o n see Pa r t V. 

The r e co rds o f Cab inet proceed ings Inc lude 
many r e f e r e n c e s t o l e akage of i n f o rmat i on and 
many i n junc t i ons t o M i n i s t e r s on the Importance 
o f p r e s e r v i n g s e c r e c y , p a r t i c u l a r l y i n the 
handl ing of Cab inet c o n c l u s i o n s . Thus i n 
i iarch, 1922 the Cabinet d e c i d e d , because o f 
f r equent l e a k a g e s , tha t o n l y two f u l l c o p i e s o f 
Cabinet conc lus i ons should be made. L a t e r i n 
1922 (Cab. 68(22)9) t h e Cab ine t d i scussed a 
memorandum by L o r d Stanf ordham on ins t ances o f 
unauthor ised p u b l i c r e f e r e n c e s t o proceed ings i n 
Cab ine t : i t was made c l e a r t h a t the K i n g ' s 
permiss ion was necessary b e f o r e such d i s c l o s u r e s 
were made (Cab. 68(22)9, and o r i g i n a l 
memorandum t h e r e f i l e d ) . 



The c u r r e n t no tes on procedure s t a t e 

Whi le the c o l l e c t i v e r e s p o n s i b i l i t y o f M i n i s t e r s o f t e n 
c a l l s f o r d i s cuss i on between M i n i s t e r s on some important 
q u e s t i o n which f a l l s who l l y o r main ly w i t h i n the purv iew o f 
a s i n g l e Department, the normal course i s f o r the r e s u l t i n g 
d e c i s i o n t o be announced and de fended by the M i n i s t e r 
concerned as h i s own d e c i s i o n . 

There may be r a r e occas ions when i  t i s d e s i r a b l e t o 
emphasise the importance o f some d e c i s i o n by s t a t i n g 
s p e c i f i c a l l y tha t i t i s the d e c i s i o n o f H i s M a j e s t y T s 
Government. T h i s , however , should be t h e e x c e p t i o n r a t h e r 
than the r u l e . The growth o f any g ene ra l p r a c t i c e whereby 
d e c i s i o n s o f the Cabinet were announced as such would l e a d 
t o embarrassment. Thus, some d e c i s i o n s o f Government 
would be r e g a r d e d as l e s s a u t h o r i t a t i v e than o t h e r s . 

( C P . ( h 9 ) 9 5 , paragraphs 29 and 30) 

On the e x c e p t i o n a l p r a c t i c e o f pub l i c 
r e f e r e n c e t o a d e c i s i o n a s a " d e c i s i o n o f the 
Cab ine t " ( a s an a l t e r n a t i v e t o " H i s M a j e s t y ' s 
Government") s e e minutes o f 29th and 30th May, 
I9U6 on F i l e 4/1/6A. Genera l s tatements o f 
procedure p r i o r t o C P . (49 )95 a l l owed t h i s 
a l t e r n a t i v e . 

I t was agreed by the Cabinet i n 1929 tha t 
i n any case where a member o f the Cab ine t 
thought i t t o be i n the pub l i c i n t e r e s t t o 
i s s u e a P r e s s communique o r any announcement 
o f Cabinet d e c i s i o n he should f i r s t c o n s u l t 
the Pr ime M i n i s t e r . (Cab 22 (29 )1) . 



Ho communiques arennow issued to the Press about the 
holding o f Cabinet meeting or the attendance a t them. 
Press references to prospective meetings and to actual 
meetings and attendance are normally based on u n o f f i c i a l o r 
unauthorised d i sc losures , speculat ion, or observation by 
Press representat ives of the movements of Min is te rs , but 
u n o f f i c i a l guidance i s sometimes g iven , as a matter o f po l i cy , 
through the Prime M i n i s t e r s Adviser on Pub l i c N a t i o n s . 

On 6 th November, 1919 the Cabinet ( 3 (19 )2 ) 
asked the Secretary to pub l i sh a press notice 
a f t e r each meeting o f the Cabinet, s ta t ing who 
was present. I t became customary a l so t o 
indicate the subjects d iscussed. On 12th 
November, 1924 i t was decided (Cab. 59 (24 )1 ) at 
the f i r s t meeting of Mr, Baldwin 's Cabinet to 
revert to the pract ice o f g i v ing a l i s t o f 
names only without any pa r t i cu l a r s o f the 
subjects discus ed. For a specimen notice 
see F i l e 4/1/55. On p a r t i c u l a r occasions the 
Cabinet asked that a press notice should not 
be issued or agreed that i t should take the form 
of a spec i a l l y drafted announcement. 

During the war th is pract ice was dropped 
and Defence Notice prohib i ted the pub l icat ion 
of any information about future meetings o f 
the Cabinet, the place where the meetings 
had been or were to be he ld , the subject matter 
of Cabinet meetings and the names o f Ministers 
and others present. 

I n January, 1948 the question o f resuming 
the pre-war pract ice was d i scussed , but i  t was 
decided not to pursue the matter. F i l e 4/1/53* 

On 27th May, 1936 reports were given in 
B.B.C. news bu l l e t i n s of what was believed 
to have passed at a Cabinet meeting that morning. 
On the inst ruct ions of the Cabinet the Secretary 
of the Cabinet wrote to the Director-General 
asking that in future no statement should be made 
in news bu l l e t i n s on proceedings in Cabinet witfa­
out d i rect authority fo r the Statement from 
10, Downing St reet . The B .B .B . accepted this 
arrangement, but pointed out that i t Imposed 
r e s t r i c t i o n s which were not appl ied to respons ib le 
newspapers. I n reply the Secretary , on the 
home Secre ta ry ' s advice, made the point that 
the B.B.C. stood i n a spec ia l pos i t ion of 
r e spons i b i l i t y to bhe publ ic and that a c l e a r 
d i s t inc t i on ought to be drawn between a 
broadcast announcement which went into every home 
and a mere statement in the Press . See F i l e 
PUB/B/I3. In recent yea r s , however, the B.B.C. 
have frequently quoted, on the bas i s of agency 
r epor t s , statements by p o l i t i c a l and other 
correspondents tn matters be l ieved to have been 
discussed a t Cabinet . 



I n 1917 Lord Curzon suggested tha t r e p o r t s should he 
prepared t o " p r e sen t t o Par l i ament and the p u b l i c a c l e a r l y 
compi led r e c o rd o f the war h i s t o r i e s and t h e accomplishment 
o f the p e r i od s i n c e the present Government assumed o f f i c e 
i n December 1916" . ( P i l e 70/15). The War Cabinet ag reed 
tha t a d r a f t should be p repared , and a r e p o r t was e v e n t u a l l y 
publ i shed (Cmd. 3005.). A second r e p o r t (Cmd. 325) was 
pub l i shed i n 1918, but the p r a c t i c e was then d i s con t inued . 

I n 19kk, the Prime M i n i s t e r (Mr. C h u r c h i l l ) 
r e p l y i n g t o a ques t i on i n the House s a i d tha t i t 
was no t proposed t o prepare f o r p u b l i c a t i o n 
r e p o r t s on the War Cab ine t then i n o f f i c e . 
(Hansard. House o f Commons. 22nd February . 1944 
C o l . 656.) 



Cabinet Photographs 

I t i s not an i n v a r i a b l e custom f o r new Cab ine ts t o be 
photographed. The i n i t i a t i v e i s normal ly taken by the 
Pr ime M i n i s t e r o r a member o f the Cabinet o r by a photographer 
w r i t i n g t o a Cabinet M i n i s t e r sugge s t i n g a photograph. 

Mr. A t t l e e * s Cabinet was photographed i n Augus t . 1945, 
s h o r t l y a f t e r t h e Government t o o k o f f i c e . The photographs 
were taken by press and photographic a genc i e s under arrangements 
made by the M i n i s t r y o f I n f o r m a t i o n ; news r e e l f i l m s were 
a l s o made. On e a r l i e r occas ions o f Cab ine t photographs 
s p e c i a l i s t photographers (Bassano and Vandyk) were c a l l e d I n , 
but a r o t a p r e s s photographer has a l s o been p r e s e n t . The 
scene has always been the garden a t 10, Downing S t r e e t , 
and sugges t i ons f o r photographs o f t h e Cab ine t i n s e s s i o n have 
a lways been r e j e c t e d . 

I t has been usual f o r Cabinet photographs t o be taken about 
15 minutes b e f o r e a meet ing o f the C a b i n e t . The arrangements 
f o r t h e at tendance o f photographers and f o r s e a t i n g , e t c . , i n 
the garden a r e made by the P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r y a t 10, Downing S t r e e t 
The Cabinet O f f i c e i s r e s p o n s i b l e (1) f o r a d v i s i n g g e n e r a l l y 
i n the l i g h t o f past p r a c t i c e ; (11) f o r p r epar ing and submi t t ing 
f o r the Prime M i n l s t e r * s approva l a " s e a t i n g and s t and ing " 
p lan (based on the precedence o f member o f the C a b i n e t ) ; and 
( i l l  ) f o r n o t i f y i n g M i n i s t e r s o f the t ime and the arrangements 
g e n e r a l l y . The main ques t i ons t o be c o n s i d e r e d , i n c o n s u l t a t i o n 
w i t h 10, Downing S t r e e t , a r e ( a ) when should the photographs 
be taken? (b ) what groups should be taken ( e . g . Cab ine t , Cab inet 
w i t h M i n i s t e r s o f Cabinet rank, Cabinet w i t h S e c r e t a r y ) ? 
( c ) what photographers should be commissioned? 

See g e n e r a l l y P i l e 4/5/16 (minutes o f 
5th June, 1945 and 24th June, 1948). 

I n 1924 the f i r s t Labour Cabinet r e j e c t e d 
the r eques t f o r a Cabinet photograph (Cab. 7(24)10) 
but subsequent ly a g r e ed . (Cab. 16(24)12). 

The War Cabinet was photographed on s e v e r a l 
o ccas i ons . F i l e 48/24. 

I n 1944 photographs o f Dominion and Uni ted 
Kingdom M i n i s t e r s were taken i n the Cabinet Room. 
F i l e 9/7/5. 

I n June, 1948 sugges t i ons f o r a Cabinet 
photograph were made t o the Lord P r e s i d e n t 
by an independent photographer . The Prime 
M i n i s t e r a g r e ed ; but i n the event i t proved 
imposs ib l e t o f i n d a conven i en t t ime f o r the 
photograph, and the mat t e r was dropped. 

I n 1947 an a r t i s t commissioned by an 
American Journal wished t o have access t o the 
Cabinet Room i n order t o paint an imaginary 
Sess ion o f the War Cabinet f o r purposes o f 
i l l u s t r a t i o n i n the s e r i a l p u b l i c a t i o n o f 
Mr. C h u r c h i l l f s memoirs. The r eques t was 
r e j e c t e d a f t e r d i s c u s s i o n w i t h the Pr ime m i n i s t e r ' s 
P r i v a t e S e c r e t a r y . 



Cabinet presents ate. 
There are many precedents for collective presents by the 

Cabinet. e.g. on the occasion of Princess Elizabeth's marriage. 
These matters are normally handled by the Prime Ministers 
Private Secretary and are usually mentioned at Cabinet by the 
Prime Minister, but, under current practice a reference is 
not normally made in the Cabinet minutes. ' 

On the death of a member or a former 
member of the Cabinet it is usual for a 
wreath to be sent in the name of the Cabinet. 
The initiative is taken by the Prime Minister s 
Private Seeretar,, but the Cabinet Office may be 
asked to assist, e.g., in the collection of 
contributions from Ministers. See Pile & rn ­




